

through the Messenger Elizabeth Plare Prophet





Publications that display this crest are the authentic Teachings of the Ascended Masters as given to the world by Mark L. Prophet and Elizabeth Clare Prophet.



Published by The Summit Lighthouse for Church Universal and Triumphant 63 Summit Way, Gardiner, MT 59030-9314 USA Tel: 1-800-245-5445 or 406-848-9500 www.TSL.org

Snvocations to the Hierarchy of the Ruby Ray

through the Messenger Elizabeth Clare Prophet

CONTENTS

	The LORD's Ritual of Exorcism	5
80.00	To Consume the Cause and Core of Evil and the Death Entity Worldwide	17
80.04	Let Thy Kindling Light	18
80.05	Worship at the Shrine of Love	21
80.06	Initiation of Souls of Light on the Sevenfold Path	22
80.07	For the Flame of the Ark of the Covenant	23
80.09	The Exorcism of the Demons of Death, the Binding of the Hordes of Death and the Diseases of Death by the Ruby Ray in the Person of Sanat Kumara, Lady Master Venus, and the Hosts of the LORD	25
80.10	For Thy Sacred Fire Breath, for Thy Two-edged Sword, for the Worship of the One God	26
80.11	For the Acceleration of Light, of God-Desire, and of the Will to Be	27
80.12	For the Exorcism of Devils That Are the Impostors of the Holy Ghost	29
80.13	For a Staying Action of the LORD	31
80.14	Deliver This Nation under God	32
80.15	On War, Nuclear Energy, and the Economy	32
80.16	Agreement on Earth for the Binding of the Demons and Discarnates Who Have Invaded the Temple of God	34
80.19	For the Binding of All Demons and Discarnates, the Death Entity, Hell and Death, and the Accuser of the Brethren Opposing the Light within Each Heart and Working against the Children of the Light	35
80.22	O Jesus, Prepare Our Souls for Communion with Thee	37

80.24	For Love from the Heart of Mighty Victory to Expand withi Our Hearts for the Healing of the Nations with the Mighty	the Mighty	
01.00	Spirit of the God of Freedom	37	
	For the Light of the Father	40	
81.01	Archangel Michael for the Defense of the Woman and Her Seed	42	
81.02	The Will of God for the Reinforcement of God-Identity	42	
81.03	Surya, Come Forth for the Healing of the Nations	43	
82.01	I Salute the Beloved Guru Maitreya	44	
82.02	The Great Congruency of Thy Throne	45	
82.03	For the Second Advent, for Footsteps of the Mission of Jesus Christ, for Enlightenment, for Thyself	46	
82.04	We Come Together, O God, to Celebrate Thy Word and Thy Name	47	
82.05	To Hold High the Torch of Liberty	49	
82.06	Our Salutation to the Lords of Karma	49	
82.07	For the Holy Ghost and the Mantle of the Ascended Lady Master Kristine	50	
82.09	For the Violet Flame of Freedom upon Earth	52	
82.10	For the Mighty Two-edged Sword and the Flaming Cherubim	53	
82.12	For Friends of Freedom Ascended and Unascended to Arise and Take Dominion in the Earth in the Name of Liberty	54	
82.13	For Proof of the Living Truth on Behalf of the Youth of America and the World	55	
82.15	Expand God Consciousness within These Hearts	56	
82.16	Lead Our Souls Captive unto the Living Word	57	
82.18	For the Perfecting of Saints, for the Ministry of the Sixth Ray for the Enlightenment of the Body of Christ	y, 58	
82.20	O Holy Spirit, Bind the Carnal Mind! Bind the Force of An christ! Bind the Dweller-on-the-Threshold!	ti- 59	
82.21	O Holy Spirit, We Welcome Thy Purging Light	61	
82.22	For the Acceleration of the Light of Love	61	

82.23	For the Light of the Goddess of Liberty, the Flame of Life and the Flame of Freedom upon the Altar of America	62
82.27	Offering Our Attainment for the	
	Balance of World Freedom and World Peace	64
82.29	All-Seeing Eye of God, Reveal Truth to the American People	65
82.33	For Showers of Blessings upon the Spirit of Youth	66
82.36	O Holy Spirit, Breathe the Breath of Life into These Souls	66
82.38	For Balance by the Threefold Flame	67
83.00	O Light of Joy from Out the Great Central Sun	70
83.04	Cosmic Conception of Christhood—	
	the Miraculous Revolution	71
83.05	I AM the Keeper of the Flame of Life on Earth!	72
83.07	Lord God Almighty, Increase and Intensify the	
	Flame of Life in the Children of Thy Heart!	73
83.09	"ICH DIEN!"	_ /
	I Live to Serve, I Love to Serve, I Serve to Set Life Free!	74
	To Protect Life Aborning in the Womb	75
83.18	Acceleration of Love to Consume the	
	Cause and Core of All Hate and Hate Creation	76
	Violet Flame, Consume Anti-Life Forces!	77
83.39	The Cosmic Flame of Freedom	70
00.50	for the Survival of Life upon Earth	78
83.50	To Venus for Enlightenment to Change the World from Death to Life	81
84.20		82
	Mighty Cherubim, Guard Now the Way of the Tree of Life	02
84.23	Sealing of Hearts in the Protection of the Great White Brotherhood	84
87 04	To the Electronic Presence of Ascended Master Godfre	
07.01	for the Multiplication of Saint Germain's Dispensation	
	by Our Causal Bodies	84
87.05	Awake, O World! And Let God Now Reign over This Planet	86
87.07	To Saint Germain and the Goddess of Liberty—	
	Kindle Now This Flame of Freedom	86
87.10	All-Seeing Eye of God for the Vision of Our Fiery Destiny	88

Have faith in God.

For verily I say unto you, That whosoever shall say unto this mountain, Be thou removed, and be thou cast into the sea; and shall not doubt in his heart, but shall believe that those things which he saith shall come to pass; he shall have whatsoever he saith.

Therefore I say unto you, What things soever ye desire, when ye pray, believe that ye receive them, and ye shall have them.

— Mark 11: 22–24

The LORD's Ritual of Exorcism

Step One: The Binding on Earth and the Binding in Heaven

Verily I say unto you, Whatsoever ye shall bind on earth shall be bound in heaven: and whatsoever ye shall loose on earth shall be loosed in heaven.

—MATTHEW 18:18

Give Jesus' "I AM Lord's Prayer" three times: 1. Our Father who art in heaven, Hallowed be thy name, I AM. I AM thy kingdom come I AM thy will being done I AM on earth even as I AM in heaven I AM giving this day daily bread to all I AM forgiving all life this day even as I AM also all life forgiving me I AM leading all men away from temptation I AM delivering all men from every evil condition I AM the kingdom I AM the power and I AM the glory of God in eternal, immortal manifestation-All this I AM (3x)

2. Give the "Hail, Mary" three times:

Hail, Mary, full of grace. The Lord is with thee. Blessed art thou among women and blessed is the fruit of thy womb, Jesus.

Holy Mary, Mother of God, pray for us, sons and daughters of God, now and at the hour of our victory over sin, disease, and death. (3x)

3. After you have given the "Hail, Mary" three times with deep devotion to her heart and an intense visualization of her Light Presence standing before you, you are ready for "The Binding on Earth and in Heaven and the Naming of the Entity." This means that you, the disciple having fulfilled the requirements of the law of Love, have the authority from Jesus Christ to exorcise evil in the Spirit and Matter chakras of my people, in the four lower bodies, and in the seven planes within the 'earth' and 'heaven' of the Matter spheres. The chakras below the heart are the 'earth,' or Matter, chakras. The chakras above the heart are the 'heaven,' or Spirit, chakras. And the heart itself, which must also be purified of impure desire, represents the threshing floor of your earthly and your heavenly consciousness synthesized in the Threefold Flame and illustrated in the interlaced triangles of ascending Matter and descending Spirit.

The Binding on Earth and in Heaven and the Naming of the Entity

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit, and in the name of the Mother, I AM the binding on earth and I AM the binding in heaven of the cause and core of this condition and conscious-ness of the Devil and his agents, embodied or disembodied, manifesting in and through this ______ entity.

Here the general or specific name of the possessing, tormenting demons or the foul and unclean spirits is pronounced. If their name is not known, you must describe to the best of your ability the condition and the consciousness of evil which you desire in God to exorcise 'on earth' and 'in heaven.'

And we invoke the Presence of the two witnesses who will pronounce in heaven and on earth, in Spirit and in Matter, the name, or names, that is the key to the casting out of the legion or the lone discarnate or incarnate entity. (Read Luke 8:26–39.)

4. Now give the "Invocation of the Presence of the Hierarchy of the Ruby Ray and the Great White Throne Judgment of the Ancient of Days." This may be given in its entirety, or it is possible for you to name only those entities of Evil which pertain to the specific demonstration of the Great Law in which you are engaged. The inserts numbered from 1 to 8 indicate the conditions and consciousness which challenge your initiations on the seven rays and the eighth ray. Those of the ninth and tenth rays will be given in our future work.

Invocation of the Presence of the Hierarchy of the Ruby Ray and the Great White Throne Judgment of the Ancient of Days

By the full power and authority of the Lamb vested within me, by the light of the Ruby Ray, I invoke the Presence here and now of the Lord God Almighty, the Holy Trinity and the Mother manifest in the Person of Lord Sanat Kumara, the Ancient of Days, Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, Jesus Christ, the two witnesses, and the living saints; all of the hosts of the LORD's hierarchy serving with them in heaven and on earth through the Threefold Flame of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the great multitude of the children of the Most High God.

I call forth the judgment of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother through the Ancient of Days, who sitteth upon the great white throne, the four cosmic forces and the four and twenty elders, the Cosmic Council and the Karmic Board, the eternal Lamb and the embodied Lamb upon the entities of Evil—"the beast that was, and is not, and yet is," the personal and planetary dweller-on-the-threshold—the cause/ effect, record/memory of the seed of the Wicked One, their conditions, circumstances, and hate and hate creations: War, Famine, Plague, Pestilence, and Pain; Death and Hell and whosoever is not found written in the Lamb's book of life, their words and works of iniquity wrought through:

1. The Devil in the person of the Antichrist and his antihierarchy of antichrists; Satan, his seed, and his fallen angels; the original murderer and his murder—who subvert the authority of the Son manifest in the Great White Brotherhood and usurp the office of the Man occupied in Spirit by Jesus Christ and the hosts of his hierarchy; 2. The Devil in the person of the Dragon; Lucifer, his seed, and his fallen angels, his clones and carbon copies of the carnal mind, his Watchers and their godless, soulless creation—who subvert the authority of the Father manifest in the Great White Brotherhood and usurp the office of the Lion occupied in Spirit by Lord Maitreya and the hosts of his hierarchy;

3. The Devil in the person of the False Prophet and his false hierarchy of false prophets—who subvert the authority of the Holy Spirit manifest in the Great White Brotherhood and usurp the office of the Calf occupied in Spirit by Gautama Buddha and the hosts of his hierarchy;

4. The Devil in the person of the Great Whore and the scarlet coloured beast full of names of blasphemy; the anti-Church and its anti-apostles and false pastors; the Adversary of the Ancient of Days and his hierarchy of adversaries of our twin flames drunken with the blood* of the saints and the martyrs of Jesus—who subvert the authority of the Mother, the eternal Lamb and the Lamb's wife, the Great Guru and his ascended chelas manifest in the Great White Brotherhood and usurp the office of the flying Eagle occupied in Spirit by Sanat Kumara and the hosts of his hierarchy;

5. The Devil in the person of the Serpent, his seed, and his fallen angels; the original liar and his lie; the embodied seed of the Wicked One; the false Christs and false prophets in Church and State, the spoilers and the false witnesses—who subvert the authority of the Son and usurp the office of the Man occupied in Matter by the messengers of the Word, the two witnesses of the Second Advent of The LORD Our Righteousness, by the friends of God in Church and State, and by the true Christs and true prophets;

6. The Devil in the person of the Accuser of the Brethren; the Laggards against the Light, the fallen ones, and the clock of $\overline{*light}$ betrayers; Abaddon, his fallen angels and the devils and beasts out of the bottomless pit that make war with the Lamb and his chosen and faithful—who subvert the authority of the Father and usurp the office of the Lion occupied in Matter by the saints who are the sons and daughters of God, the 144,000, and the remnant of the Woman's seed who keep the flame in the white cube of the Church Universal and Triumphant;

7. The Devil in the person of the beasts out of the sea and out of the earth and the dragon who gave them their power, seat, and great authority; the one named blasphemy: his image, mark, name, and number, 666; and their agents in the oneworld government and economy, the international bankers and money changers and the capitalist/communist conspirators, manipulators of the Law of the Abundant Life, and the light of Alpha and Omega in the sacred labor of the children of God; the Archdeceivers of mankind; demons and discarnates working through the godless, soulless creation of the monstrous mechanization concept—who subvert the authority of the Holy Spirit and usurp the office of the Calf occupied in Matter by the great multitude who are the children of the Most High God;

8. The Devil in the person of Babylon the Great; the anti-State and the anti-City; her sins and sorceries, her devils, and foul spirits; the Watchers and their godless creation, their fornication—misqualifying the light of the Mother chakra, suffering the abuse and abortion of Her children; their cults of money and the money beast, of greed and gluttony, their beasts of sensuality and materialism and their murder of the prophets and the saints; the False Guru and his false hierarchy of false gurus and their false chelas; the councils of black magicians and practitioners of the black arts and adepts of the left-handed path; witches and warlocks and their covens of

wit-craft and wish-craft, Death and Hell—and all who subvert the authority of the Mother, the embodied Lamb, and the Lamb's wife, The Guru Ma and her unascended chelas, and usurp the office of the flying Eagle occupied in Matter by the Woman clothed with the Sun and her Manchild embodied in the initiates of the Ruby Ray who keep the flame of the Mystery School in the Community of the Holy Spirit;

Jezebel and her children, the fearful and unbelieving, and the abominable, and murderers, and whoremongers, and sorcerers, and idolaters, and all liars; all who blaspheme the name of God and his Son Jesus Christ and repent not of their deeds to give Him the glory; all demons, discarnates, laggard evolutions and fallen ones, with their mass entities and monstrous mechanization* of every type and form of the four beasts of animal magnetism and the little horn of aggressive mental suggestion focused in their astral grids and forcefields; and any thing that defileth, worketh abomination, or maketh a lie against the Holy City or the temple of the Lord God Almighty and of the Lamb.

I command it done in the name of the living Word. I command it done in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost, in the name of the Woman and her seed, the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the World Mother, elemental life—fire, air, water, and earth!

It is done, it is finished, it is sealed! It is done, it is finished, it is sealed! It is done, it is finished, it is sealed! For the mouth of the LORD hath spoken it! I AM THAT I AM!

*multiplication

See Rev. 2; 6; 9; 10; 12–14; 16–22; Matt. 13:24.43; I John 2; 4; II John; John 8; Matt. 7; 24; Luke 6; Jer. 23; Luke 13; 21; I Pet. 5; Gen. 3; Judges 2; II Kings 17; I Sam. 13; 14; Jer. 12; 51; Matt. 26; Acts 6; I Kings 16–21; Dan. 7; 8.

5. Give "They Shall Not Pass!" three times:

In the Name of the I AM THAT I AM, I invoke the Electronic Presence of Jesus Christ: They shall not pass! They shall not pass! They shall not pass! By the authority of the cosmic cross of white fire it shall be: That all that is directed against the Christ within me. within the holy innocents, within our beloved messengers, within every son and daughter of God Is now turned back by the authority of Alpha and Omega, by the authority of my Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ, by the authority of Saint Germain! I AM THAT I AM within the center of this temple and I declare in the fullness of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood: That those who, then, practice the black arts against the Children of the Light Are now bound by the hosts of the LORD, Do now receive the judgment of the Lord Christ within me, within Jesus, and within every ascended master, Do now receive, then, the full returnmultiplied by the energy of the Cosmic Christof their nefarious deeds which they have practiced since the very incarnation of the Word!

Lo, I AM a Son of God! Lo, I AM a Flame of God! Lo, I stand upon the rock of the living Word And I declare with Jesus, the living Son of God: They shall not pass! They shall not pass! Elohim. Elohim. [Chant] (3x)

6. Conclude with the "Transfiguring Affirmations of Jesus the Christ" three times:

I AM THAT I AM

I AM the Open Door which no man can shut

I AM the Light which lighteth every man that cometh into the world

I AM the Way

I AM the Truth

I AM the Life

I AM the Resurrection

I AM the Ascension in the Light

I AM the fulfillment of all my needs and requirements of the hour

I AM abundant supply poured out upon all life

I AM perfect sight and hearing

I AM the manifest perfection of being

I AM the illimitable Light of God made manifest everywhere

I AM the Light of the Holy of Holies

I AM a son of God

I AM the Light in the holy mountain of God (3x)

Step Two: The Agreement on Earth

Again I say unto you, That if two of you shall agree on earth as touching any thing that they shall ask, it shall be done for them of my Father which is in heaven.

—MATTHEW 18:19

Two or more saints of the Church Universal and Triumphant should assemble together for The Ritual of Exorcism at least once in every twenty-four hour cycle until the desired results of their very specific invocation have fully manifested. Together they shall repeat:

In the name of Jesus Christ, in the name of the Lamb incarnate, in the name of the beloved I AM Presence and Christ Self of all and by the full power of the Holy Spirit, we agree together on earth that this thing that we ask in thy name, O Lord God, Almighty—*I AM THAT I AM, ELOHIM, EL SHADDAI*—shall be accomplished according to the holy will of God, by thy wisdom, and by thy love, in time and space and in the eternal cycles of being.

Here make a clear and concise statement of that which is to be accomplished in the holy name of God.

And we ask that our desire be purged by the sacred fire until it become God-desire and that our prayer be the prayer of the Son of God within us, wholly acceptable as an offering in the sight of God and his holy angels.

And we give to our Christ Self the authority to disavow any vow, dynamic decree, will or intent, reason, motive, or cause that does not express the God-harmony, God-love, and God-truth of his Presence.

Step Three: The Gathering Together in the Name I AM THAT I AM

For where two or three are gathered together in my name, there am I in the midst of them. —MATTHEW 18:20

The third step in The Ritual of Exorcism is the gathering together in the name of the LORD, the beloved mighty I AM Presence and the Christ Self, of the twos and threes unto the ministering thousand thousands and the ten thousand-times-ten thousand who stand before my throne—my Threefold Flame which is my scepter and my authority—and the numberless numbers who affirm the law and the judgments of the Ancient of Days and of my name, I AM THAT I AM. This is the action of the Holy Spirit in the full diapason of the causal bodies of the saints who commune in the living Word Jesus Christ and the hierarchy of servantsons who are with him above and below on the Ruby Ray and allow that Word to flow through the seven centers of being as the flow of harmony for the healing of believers and the sealing of their circle of oneness....

All that I have given unto my messengers of the Ruby Ray concerning the science of invocation of the Word is for you, my beloved children. Our handbook for Keepers of the Flame, *Prayers, Meditations, and Dynamic Decrees for the Coming Revolution in Higher Consciousness,* includes many acceptable offerings that you will treasure and learn. Our lectures and dictations recorded in books and on tape will complete the teaching that I am not permitted to extend further in this format. The gift is already given. Believe and be baptized by the sacred fire of the Word you invoke.

When you gather in my name, neglect not the invocation to the Elohim of Exorcism, Astrea, to the Archangel of Deliverance, Michael the Great Prince, and to the Virgin Mary in whose presence the demons also believe and tremble. And neglect not the call to mighty Ray-O-Light and his legions of fearlessness flame who fearlessly bind the hordes of impostors of the Holy Spirit sent to snare the children of God by the wolves in sheep's clothing who lead their congregations in prayers of malintent and thereby become the practitioners of the black arts, vibrating with the black mass and the Black Pope and even the Satanists active in the lust of their intellectual sensualism in these latter days.

Sanat Kumara, Pearls of Wisdom, 9-23-79, 9-30-79. See Matt. 18.

The LORD's Prayer of Intercession

Father, the hour is come; glorify thy Son, that thy Son also may glorify thee: as thou hast given him power over all flesh, that he should give eternal life to as many as thou hast given him.

And this is life eternal, that they might know thee the only true God, and Jesus Christ, whom thou hast sent.

I have glorified thee on the earth: I have finished the work which thou gavest me to do.

And now, O Father, glorify thou me with thine own self with the glory which I had with thee before the world was.

I have manifested thy name unto the men which thou gavest me out of the world: thine they were, and thou gavest them me; and they have kept thy word.

Now they have known that all things whatsoever thou hast given me are of thee.

For I have given unto them the words which thou gavest me; and they have received them, and have known surely that I came out from thee, and they have believed that thou didst send me.

I pray for them: I pray not for the world, but for them which thou hast given me; for they are thine.

And all mine are thine, and thine are mine; and I AM glorified in them.

And now I am no more in the world, but these are in the world, and I come to thee. Holy Father, keep through thine own name those whom thou hast given me, that they may be one, as we are.

While I was with them in the world, I kept them in thy name: those that thou gavest me I have kept, and none of them is lost, but the son of perdition; that the scripture might be fulfilled.

And now come I to thee; and these things I speak in the

world, that they might have my joy fulfilled in themselves.

I have given them thy word; and the world hath hated them, because they are not of the world, even as I am not of the world.

I pray not that thou shouldest take them out of the world, but that thou shouldest keep them from the evil.

They are not of the world, even as I am not of the world. Sanctify them through thy truth: thy word is truth.

As thou has sent me into the world, even so have I also sent them into the world.

And for their sakes I sanctify myself, that they also might be sanctified through the truth.

Neither pray I for these alone, but for them also which shall believe on me through their word;

That they all may be one; as thou, Father, art in me, and I in thee, that they also may be one in us: that the world may believe that thou hast sent me.

And the glory which thou gavest me I have given them [I have initiated them in the light/energy/consciousness of my I AM Presence]; that they may be one, even as we are one: I in them, and thou in me, that they may be made perfect in one; and that the world may know that thou hast sent me, and hast loved them, as thou hast loved me.

Father, I will that they also, whom thou hast given me, be with me where I AM; that they may behold my glory [the magnitude of my I AM Presence], which thou hast given me: for thou lovest me before the foundation of the world.

O righteous Father, the world hath not known thee: but I have known thee, and these have known that thou hast sent me.

And I have declared unto them thy name [I AM THAT I AM] and will declare it: that the love wherewith thou hast loved me may be in them, and I in them.

John 17. See: Sanat Kumara, Pearls of Wisdom, 5-20-79.

To Consume the Cause and Core of Evil 80.00 and the Death Entity Worldwide

In the name of my mighty I AM Presence, in the name of my Christ Self, in the name of the four cosmic forces, in the name of the Lion, the Calf, the Man, and the flying Eagle, in the name of the Lamb incarnate, in the name of the Lamb's wife, the living soul of the devotee, I call forth the Ruby Ray from the heart of Sanat Kumara, Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, Jesus Christ, the cloven tongues, twin spheres of the two witnesses, and the sacred heart of the saints in Matter and in Spirit:

By the light of the universal lineage of the Ruby Ray, let the sacred fire descend! Let the Ruby Ray descend and let it now go into the cause and core of all evil upon the planetary body, and the way of evil, and evil incarnate, and every subterfuge of evil. Let the Ruby Ray descend to consume the cause and core of every opposition to our youth.

In the name of Melchizedek, in the name of the Order of Light so invoked, I direct the Ruby Ray into the cause and core of the subculture of death, of drugs, of distorted rhythm in rock, of alcoholism, of every perverse manifestation invading the mind, the heart, and the soul of the youth of America, and every nation upon earth. I plunge the sword of the Ruby Ray into the cause and core of the Dragon and the Beast, the False Prophet, the Great Whore, and the Antichrist. For so it is accomplished by the four cosmic forces this day that the action of the Ruby Ray shall begin its acceleration into the cause and core of the death entity worldwide that is upon the youth of America.

Blaze forth, O Ruby Ray! I command in the name of Sanat Kumara, Gautama Buddha, Maitreya, beloved Jesus Christ, the two witnesses, and the saints. I demand and I command by the authority of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood: Let the foul and unclean spirits who have invaded the temples of our youth come out! come out! come out! in the name of the LORD! come out in the name of the LORD, come out! come out! come out! by the action of the ruby lightning of the mind of God! Descend now into the cause and core! And those who will not come out, you are forced out now by the sacred fire of the fiery salamanders, the fiery seraphim, and the mighty legions of Victory! Nada, "The Coming Revolution in Higher Consciousness,"

Camelot, California, 7-1-79

80.04 Let Thy Kindling Light...

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I invoke the light of the Ancient of Days. O beloved Sanat Kumara, come forth in thy living flame. Let thy kindling light enter now into the fiery core of each heart. Beloved Gautama Buddha, let thy flame enter the fiery core of each heart. Beloved Lord Maitreya, let thy kindling flame enter the fiery core of each heart. Let thy kindling flame enter the fiery core of each heart. Beloved Lord Jesus, let thy kindling flame enter the fiery core of each heart.

I call unto the full power of the Holy Spirit. I call for the descent of that Holy Spirit into each heart. In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, I call for the full power of the four cosmic forces. I call for the full power of the four cosmic forces. Intensify thy light within each heart. Intensify thy light. I call for the full power of beloved Brahma, Vishnu, and Shiva. Blaze forth thy light in the fiery core of each heart!

Mighty Brahma, Vishnu, and Shiva, I call for the full power of the sacred fire of the Woman. I call unto the Lamb clothed with the Sun. I call for the full power of the four cosmic forces to enter each heart. Beloved Sanat Kumara, the Ancient of Days, enter now the white-fire core of each heart. I demand the purging of all misuse of that sacred fire in the white-fire core of being. I call unto the light of ten thousand suns. I call for the full power of the mighty Elohim. I demand the full power of the sacred fire now. Roar through this community and consume the cause and core of all that is in each individual opposing that manifest light of the fiery core of being! Burn right through in the name of the living Word! Burn right through in the name of the living Word!

I call for the full power and flame of each one's own Christed being to rise up now. Blaze through now! Blaze through now! Blaze through now! I demand the action of the Great Central Sun magnet. I call for the full power of the light of God that never fails. Blaze forth the light of God that never fails!

I call for the action of the sacred fire. I demand the binding of all opposition to the victory of the light of the Christ within each heart. Burn right through in the name of the Lord Jesus Christ! Burn right through in the name of the Lord Jesus Christ! Burn right through with the power of blue lightning!

By the hand of beloved Archangel Michael, by the hand of beloved Archangel Gabriel, I demand the sealing of the circle of this Community of the Holy Spirit. And I demand the purging of all demons and discarnates of rebellion, all demons of sensuality, the death matrix, and the suicide entity. I demand the purging now and the binding of all disease forms. I demand the binding of all resistance to the eternal Truth within the remnant of light upon the planetary body.

By the authority of the fire enfolding itself, I call forth the fire infolding itself now into the white-fire core of the heart of each one. Blaze forth thy light! Blaze forth the light of Lord Gautama! Blaze forth the light of the Lord Maitreya! In the name of Almighty God and in the name of the Holy of Holies, let God's will be done, let God's will be done, let God's will be done! In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, I demand action this day for the raising up of the hosts of the LORD, for the raising up of the remnant, and for the binding of all resistance within that remnant to the divine plan fulfilled, to the lawful office of light held by each child of God, held by each son and daughter of God.

I demand action by the fiery salamanders. I call to the mighty seraphim. I demand the clearing of the debris of irresoluteness, of nonmobility and nonflowing with the will of God. I demand the binding of all resisting that decision of each one to be in the white-fire-core center of Alpha and Omega. I demand the binding of all opposition to the children of the light and their commitment to the flame of freedom in every nation upon earth.

I call for the LORD's hosts to send forth that fire, the intense white light and the intense violet flame this day. We call for the acceleration in the planetary body of all those who are committed to the freedom and the enlightenment of humanity. We call to these sons and daughters of God, and we call to the ascended hosts to cut them free and draw them into the knowledge of their own mighty I AM Presence. Let them sit beneath their own vine and fig tree, under the ascended masters' teachings, under the LORD, the Ancient of Days.

I summon the hearts of the body of saints East and West. I call for the light of the Ruby Ray to make us one. Let the Ruby Ray penetrate through. Let the Ruby Ray go forth from this altar now, into this congregation, for the staying action of the Lord God Almighty, for the binding of the seed of the wicked, and for the raising up of the true flame of freedom upon earth.

In the name of the Father, the Mother, the Son, and the Holy Spirit, Amen. Camelot, California, 7-15-79

Worship at the Shrine of Love

80.05

O mighty Presence of Life within each precious heart, I bow before thy Light. O God Almighty, thou who art come in thy flaming ones, we gather together to praise thy sacred name, I AM. O infinite Light of the Eternal Christos, O spark of individuality, I praise thy blessedness.

O soul of infinite fire, soul of a Christ and of a Buddha, I come to worship at the Shrine of Love—Love blazing within my heart. O infinite Love within each one, intensify thy radiant sun. Woo these souls unto thy flame celestial into the inner courts of heaven. Soul of light, arise shine, for thy Light is come, and the glory of the LORD is risen upon thee!

Ancient of Days, Sanat Kumara, come now into our temple, into the hearts of the saints. All of earth kneels in humble and loving, adoring, obedient harmony with thy flame. O golden victorious light of a golden age now dawning, receive these blessed ones and make them one as we are one in thy love.

In the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Blessed Mother, we welcome souls of light unto the flame of the Resurrection and the Ascension in the light! Amen.

"A Retreat on the Ascension," San Francisco, California, 8-10-79

80.06 Initiation of Souls of Light on the Sevenfold Path

O mighty light of freedom, come forth from out the Great Central Sun. O mighty light of freedom, stir the hearts of souls of light everywhere!

O Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, I call thee forth upon this altar. In the name of the Father, in the name of the Son, in the name of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, on behalf of these souls of light and souls of light everywhere, come forth now with thy quickening love!

Djwal Kul, come with Morya El and Kuthumi! Come forth, Saint Germain, Serapis Bey, Hilarion and Nada! Open the way of the sevenfold path of initiation. Open the way to the twelve solar hierarchies and the Elohim.

Release now the sacred fire of the heart into those who open their hearts gladly to the Christ and the Buddha for the fusion of the light of East and West. Lo, I AM come to do thy will, O God, in the very center of life.

Lo, each one who partakes of thy Body and thy Blood would also assimilate thy living Word. Alpha and Omega, in the name of the living Christ, in the name of the Christ Self of each one, come forth and open the way made plain. Sanat Kumara, let thy dispensations reign. Living Word of the Brotherhood of Luxor, of the Royal Teton, of Darjeeling, of Lake Titicaca, come forth now! We present ourselves, O God, the instrument of thy light.

In the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, the I AM THAT I AM, Djwal Kul, come! Djwal Kul, come! Come into our hearts and initiate us now in the secret chamber there. The love of the Ruby Ray is thine own.

We take up the Ruby Cross. We take up the Ruby Ray. And we march with the legions of light. Amen. "A Retreat on the Ascension," San Francisco, California, 8-10-79 In the name of Almighty God, I call forth the flame of the ark of the covenant to blaze forth upon this altar. I call for the light of God that never fails.

I call for the light of the Lord God Almighty to shine upon this nation. I call for the light of the I AM THAT I AM to descend. And I call for the Presence of the Lord God of hosts.

Let the flame of God Harmony burn now upon this altar. Let it blaze forth from the altar of invocation by the full power of the twelve and the Christ in the center of the twelve.

I call forth the light of the twelve tribes of Israel. I call forth the light of the Ancient of Days and of the Lamb within the midst. I call forth the light of the four cosmic forces and the four and twenty elders.

Come forth, O living Word, and rule the earth by thy flame. By the flame of Elohim, come forth! By the flame of the I AM THAT I AM, come forth! By the flame of El Shaddai, come forth!

Seven mighty archangels, deliver the flame of God unto the earth this day. We assemble now with the hosts of the LORD. We assemble now with the hosts of the LORD before the twelve tribes of Israel. We assemble now and we invoke the mantle of our God. We invoke the Word of the LORD. We invoke the sacred fire for the consuming, the utter consuming of all that is unlike thee.

We demand the binding and the consuming of the cause and core of every manifestation of the Antichrist within this world. Blaze forth the light of God that never fails! Blaze forth the light of God and the power of his Christ and the power of the Holy Ghost and the power of the World Mother for the binding of Antichrist, the Dragon, the False Prophet, the Great Whore, the beast that cometh up out of the earth and the beast that cometh up out of the sea, the binding of the Serpent, the binding of the Fallen One, the binding of the Watchers and their Luciferian creation.

We call forth the light of God that never fails upon all that opposes the path of the saints on the seven rays of God and on the eighth ray of integration. Let the light of the Ruby Ray come forth by the hand of Sanat Kumara, by the hand of Gautama Buddha, by the hand of Lord Maitreya and Lord Jesus, by the hand of the two witnesses and the saints.

Let the light of the Ruby Ray go forth into the very heart of the earth this day. Roll the darkness into the flame of God! Roll the darkness into the flame of God! Roll the bearers of the darkness into the flame of God! Blaze forth thy sacred fire, O living Word!

Let the LORD come forth! Let the LORD be praised! Let the LORD be praised! Praise the LORD and let God be magnified in our hearts! Let God be magnified in our nation! Let God be magnified in the nations of the earth this day!

We invoke thy flame, O living Word. And we send it forth to fulfill thy Word—north, south, east and west. Let thy living flame go forth by the power of our Word. Let thy flame go forth, O God, and let it utterly consume all that would stand in the way of thy kingdom come on earth this day.

In the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, and by the Body and Blood of the living Word, we pray. We pray in thy name, O God. We pray in the name of the hosts of the LORD. We pray in the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the World Mother.

Let all elemental life bow before thy living Word as we give praise unto thy sacred name, I AM THAT I AM. Amen. Camelot, California, 8-19-79

The Exorcism of the Demons of Death, 80.09 the Binding of the Hordes of Death and the Diseases of Death by the Ruby Ray in the Person of Sanat Kumara, Lady Master Venus, and the Hosts of the LORD

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I call for the intensity of the love ray, the mighty Ruby Ray from the heart of Lady Venus. Blaze forth the light of God that never fails!

O beloved Venus, beloved Sanat Kumara, manifest thy Presence within our midst and let the action of the Ruby Ray go forth. Let it bind the seed of the wicked! Let it bind the archdeceivers, the spoilers, and the destroyers in the midst of America! Let them be exposed! Let all that is without the cosmic honor flame in this nation, its government, its economy, its education, its churches—let it be exposed!

I call for the light of the cosmic honor flame of mighty Victory and his legions of light. Go forth north, south, east and west! Expose the liar and the lie! Let the white flame of purity descend. Let the Cosmic Christ illumination descend. Let the flame of purity and the Ruby Ray go forth.

I call for legions of Lady Master Venus to wash the earth clean by the love ray and restore the mind of Christ within the people.

I demand the healing of the death consciousness, and I demand the exorcism of the demons of death. In the name of Jesus Christ, in the name of Lord Maitreya, in the name of Gautama Buddha, in the name of Sanat Kumara, I demand that you come out! O foul and unclean spirits of death, come out! of the body of God upon earth. Bolts of blue lightning! Bolts of blue lightning! Bolts of blue lightning! Come out! in the name of the Christ. Come out! in the name of the Buddha. Come out! in the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit and the Mother. I demand it!

And I demand the binding of the hordes of death, and the disease of death, and the disease of insanity accelerating death in the people of this nation. I demand the binding of the hordes of suicide. Burn through! Burn through! Burn through! I demand that you come out of the nation, come out of this people and be consigned to the Sacred Fire who lives and moves in the earth this day in the Person of Sanat Kumara, Lady Master Venus, and the hosts of the LORD.

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, in the name of the I AM THAT I AM, in the name of the I AM THAT I AM, Amen.

"The Coming Revolution in Higher Consciousness," Camelot, California, 6-30-79

80.10 For Thy Sacred Fire Breath,

for Thy Two-edged Sword, for the Worship of the One God

Charge and charge and charge each soul of light with thy sacred fire, with thy love, with thy light, with thy sacred fire breath. I AM thy blessed Self incarnate, LORD. I direct thy Word to manifest within each worthy son and daughter and child. Let thy Word go forth through me, sharper than the two-edged sword. Let it cleave asunder the real from the unreal. And let each soul choose to live neath the mighty I AM Presence and the Christ Flame.

Let all whoredom cease. Let the children of the light cleave unto the one God. Let this be the hour of the decision to worship Him and Him only and to have no other gods before thee. There is no turning back from the path of victory, from the Path of the Ruby Ray.

Let each one who partakes of thy living Word drink in thy essence, LORD. O sacred fire, O terrible crystal of the light, intensify now.

Camelot, California, 6-29-79

For the Acceleration of Light, 80.11 of God-Desire, and of the Will to Be

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I call for the full power of the Father-Mother God, the Son and the Holy Spirit. I call for the cosmic cross of white fire to intensify the light of the heart, intensify now the soul's desire to be free in the legitimate path of Christhood.

I call for the soul to be wrapped in the swaddling garment of the eternal Mother, to rise in the cradle of the Mother, to rise to the plane of the heart through surrender to Lord Maitreya. I call for the Ruby Ray in the full power of Gautama Buddha, Sanat Kumara, Lord Maitreya, Jesus Christ, the causal bodies of the two witnesses, and the sacred hearts of the saints.

I call for the action now of the setting aside and holding back of the conglomerate of human desire and human karma that the souls of the lightbearers may proceed directly to the very living heart of their own Christ Self and enter there the Holy of Holies. I call for the staying hand of the LORD even in the very midst of the Dark Cycle when the hand of the Lord God is removed and mankind's karma is accelerating.

I call, then, and I ask intercession, beloved Saint Germain, on behalf of every true chela of the light who is sincerely desirous of putting on God consciousness and who will, then, be the one who rewards the ascended Gurus with a sacred labor and with the flame of transmutation, taking full responsibility for that human desire and human karma so set aside by the intercession of the ascended hosts of light.

Therefore, Almighty God, we come before thy throne. We plead for the acceleration of light, of God-desire, and of the will to be. We call for the protection of free will in the very seat of the soul, the living soul presence of the chelas of the Great White Brotherhood. We call, then, for the acceleration of that God-freedom.

Beloved Saint Germain, enter now the seat-of-the-soul chakra in all those who bid thee welcome. I call for the binding of the carnal mind. I call for the transmutation of all psychic detours and all false gurus with their promises of the holding back of that karma or the taking on of it. I demand the exposure of the liar and the lie in these individuals who without the aegis of Almighty God or the Great White Brotherhood have assumed their positions in the center of circles of well-meaning and sincere souls.

Burn right through! Burn and consume that psychic substance! Bolts of lightning! I demand the exorcism of the false hierarchy and its false gurus, wolves in sheep's clothing in the body of the earth.

Burn right through! Expose and consume! Burn right through! by the power of the all-seeing eye of God. Blaze forth the light of the all-seeing eye of God! Burn right through! Let there be a binding action by the hosts of the LORD now! And let the souls who will to be God, who will to be the instruments of salvation upon earth and the true shepherds of the people, come forth now and be cut free by Archangel Michael.

Mighty Astrea, beloved Maha Shakti, blaze forth the light of Elohim! Lock your cosmic circle and sword of blue flame around the cause and core of all that impedes the soul on the Path of the Ruby Ray, all that prevents the manifestation of sacrifice, surrender, selflessness, and service.

Blaze forth the light of God that never fails! Seal the hearts of the faithful! Seal the hearts of the faithful! Seal their souls in the path of light! The light of God never fails, the light of God never fails, the light of God never fails and the beloved mighty I AM Presence is that light! Beloved mighty Surya and Cuzco, hold now the balance fire, air, water and earth—for the manifestation of the Flame of Life within the elementals, within the chelas of light, within the children of God, within all people everywhere, within the embodied angelic hosts.

We call for a balancing action of the Flame of Life upon the planetary body, and we call for the clearing of these chakras of those who are present here for the descent of the cosmic beings of enlightenment to increase our capacity to magnify the LORD. Let God be magnified! Let God be magnified! Let God be magnified! is our revolutionary cry.

We call thee forth, O hosts of the LORD. Come now suddenly into this temple. Purge and consume all self-love and idolatry and let the living God appear.

Beloved Surya and Cuzco, Lord Himalaya, Vaivasvata Manu, the God and Goddess Meru, and the Great Divine Director, clear the way! clear the way! clear the way! and come now into the temples of the people of earth. And clear the way for the avatars of the age, clear the way for the Manchild. We decree it and we accept it done this hour in full power. Amen. "The Coming Revolution in Higher Consciousness," Camelot, California, 7-3-79

For the Exorcism of Devils 80.12 That Are the Impostors of the Holy Ghost

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I call forth the light of the living Word. I call forth the light of God that never fails. I call for the descent of Elohim, the seven beloved archangels, and the chohans of the rays. I call to God the Father, God the Son, God the Holy Spirit.

In the name of Sanat Kumara, Lord Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, Lord Jesus Christ, the twin flames of the two witnesses, and the hearts of the saints, I summon now the full power of the Ruby Ray. I call for the light and the action of that ray.

I call for the legions of the LORD, beloved mighty Victory, the legions of the seven archangels. Go forth now in the name of the Word, in the name of the I AM THAT I AM. Go forth now!

By the full intensity of the violet flame and the blue lightning from the mind of God, I demand the exorcism within this planetary body. I demand the casting out of those devils that are the impostors of the Holy Spirit, those devils that perpetuate their false doctrine and dogma, and those working in Church and State to prevent the true Light, the Light of every son and daughter of God, from coming into full manifestation in every nation upon earth. I demand the binding of those devils by mighty Astrea's cosmic circle and sword of blue flame.

I demand the binding of the wolves in sheep's clothing by the power of Archangel Michael and his legions of the will of God. By their swords of blue flame, I demand the binding of the fallen ones who have invaded the temple of the people and the temple of our God.

I call thee forth, O Elohim. I call thee forth, O living Word. By the power of the Cosmic Christ, bind now all that opposes the light of the archangels and the ascended masters coming into the hearts of the children of God upon earth!

By the power of the Great Silent Watchers, bind that which would prevent the Word from descending in the true Spirit of prophecy from Almighty God into the hearts of the messengers, into the hearts of the saints, and into the hearts of the great multitude. Blaze forth your light! Blaze forth your light! Blaze forth your light!

In thy name, O God, in the name of the Father, the Mother, the Son, and the Holy Spirit, we pray the "Lord's Prayer" and the "Hail, Mary" for the confirmation of our Word.

(Give the "Lord's Prayer" and the "Hail, Mary" three times each.) "A Retreat on the Ascension," San Francisco, California, 8-11-79 Therefore, our Father, this day we pray that until lightbearers and sons of God are raised up to seize the torch and carry it in the highest positions of our government, federal and state, that there may be a staying action of the LORD upon all planetary evil and malintent and Antichrist forces against the Light.

Almighty God, we come before the Lords of Karma for dispensations of light that we might prepare this generation of lightbearers that they might summon their forces and take their places and turn the tide and bring the earth to the great victory of the golden age that our beloved Saint Germain has held in his heart for aeons.

Lord God Almighty, we are thyself in earth. We pledge our support to thee, to Saint Germain, by love, by God-harmony. We pledge our love. And therefore, let there be the staying action, let there be the containment of war, nuclear war, and all conditions which would thwart the divine plan of the Great Divine Director for this hemisphere and for the entire earth.

Lord God Almighty, by thy mighty hand, thrust forth thy hand and hold back the entire hordes of the astral plane! Hold back the entire hordes in embodiment! Hold back and bind in heaven and on earth the seed of the wicked and the fallen ones this day.

Let the children of the light go forth! March in the name of Saint Germain! Take command and set the captives free! O God, send thy light! Send thy illumination! Send thy Word through these chelas! Let it be heard throughout the land. Let thy Word be a magnet for all souls of light to come into the dominion of the mighty I AM Presence.

O God, we are one. We have come to be thy vessel. I AM thy chalice, O God.

In the name of the Father, and of the Son, of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood whose servants we are, Amen. Camelot, California, 9-16-79

80.14 Deliver This Nation under God

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I call forth the light. Beloved Godfre, beloved Lanello, beloved hosts of light, kneel with us as we pray for the light in America, as we pray for the flame of freedom. Burn now upon this altar of our hearts! Deliver this nation under God.

Goddess of Liberty, send thy legions of light! Goddess of Liberty, send thy legions of light! Light of God that never fails, blaze forth! Blaze forth! Blaze forth!

We summon the seven archangels. I call for God's own miracle light for the saving of this nation, America, and freedom throughout the earth.

Let it be done, O God, by the hand of the Lion, the Calf, the Man, and the flying Eagle. Let it be done by the flame of Sanat Kumara, Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, Lord Jesus, and all the hosts of the LORD. Ruby Ray, mighty Ruby Cross, send forth thy miracle this day! Send forth thy miracle this day! Send forth thy miracle this day!

In the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit and the Mother, Amen. Camelot, California, 9-16-79

80.15 On War, Nuclear Energy, and the Economy

Beloved mighty I AM Presence within each heart, O great God Self of each and every living soul and all who are gathered here, I invoke thy living flame upon the altar of each one's being. Beloved Lord Sanat Kumara, the Ancient of Days, beloved Gautama Buddha, beloved Lord Maitreya, beloved Jesus Christ, Saint Germain, and Mother Mary, come forth now in the fullness of thy love. Let the intensity of thy love ray descend.

We invoke the freedom flame, the violet flame to intensify the light of mercy from the heart of the bodhisattva Kuan Yin, from the heart of beloved Omri-Tas and all who serve the violet transmuting flame of the Holy Spirit. We invoke the light of Cosmic Christ illumination from out of the retreats of the Great White Brotherhood. We call for the illumination of the minds and hearts of people everywhere by the penetrating light of truth, by the wisdom of the Universal Mother.

I invoke the light of the violet flame. I invoke the light of wisdom. I invoke the Ruby Ray as the path of initiation for all lightbearers upon earth, and I invoke the white light of the Mother as the ascension fire glows. I call for the glowing of the ascension flame within each temple. I call for the purification of each temple that the ascension flame might rise.

And I call to the very heart of Alpha and Omega: Let light descend into the cause and core of evil upon the planetary body, into the cause and core of every problem we face as individuals and nations. I demand the full power of Almighty God out of the white-fire core of being. Alpha and Omega, blaze forth now into the cause and core of the questions of war, nuclear energy and its uses and misuses.

I call for the light of God that never fails for the protection of people everywhere from the misuses of nuclear energy. I call for the light of God that never fails for the binding of war and the entities of war. I demand the binding of the dragons of war and the beasts of the international conspiracies of capitalism and communism. Blaze forth the light of God that never fails!

I call for the transmutation of all chaos and confusion

regarding the issues of the hour. And we invoke the ineffable light of God, the sweetness of the Buddha and the Lord Christ into the government, into the economy, into energy, oil, inflation, deflation, recession, and manipulation of the abundant life from the top to the bottom and the bottom to the top of civilization and society. Let the violet flame roll now into the cause and core of every condition!

Blaze forth the light of God that never fails! I call for the victory of the Goddess of Liberty and the mighty Threefold Flame of Life. I call for the healing of the wounds of the nations and the binding of death and hatred and war. I call for the flame of Liberty to blaze forth throughout the continents of the world.

Blaze forth, O masters of the Great White Brotherhood! Blaze forth and intensify thy light and let the violet flame go forth to champion the right everywhere.

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and in the name of the Mother, Amen.

"The Coming Revolution in Higher Consciousness," Camelot, California, 7-1-79

80.16 Agreement on Earth for the Binding of the Demons and Discarnates Who Have Invaded the Temple of God

Our Father-Mother God, Alpha and Omega, we are assembled together on earth in the name of Jesus Christ and every Son of God whom he has initiated on the path of true Sonship. We have come together in the name of Sanat Kumara, Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, the saints, and the two witnesses serving the Ruby Ray.

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, we agree together on earth in this hour that there shall be the binding of the seed of the wicked who have prevented the souls of light from contacting Almighty God and the living Word within them. We agree together on earth that those shall be bound who have perpetuated the false doctrine and dogma of Antichrist.

We agree together for the binding of the demons and the discarnates that have invaded the temple of God, the impostors of the Holy Spirit, the impostors of the Father, of the Son, and of the Mother.

Go forth, O Lord God Almighty, by thy invincible Word, by the Word of God, by the Faithful and True, and by the legions of light. Now bind that force and forcefield on the astral and physical planes.

We demand the staying action of the Lord God this day of all seed of the wicked in Church and State who are determined to take from the children of God their rightful inheritance of the abundant life in Spirit and Matter. This is our prayer.

We have come together in thy name, O God, and in thy name we trust the fulfillment of our call according to thy will and in the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the World Mother. Amen. "A Retreat on the Ascension," San Francisco, California, 8-11-79

For the Binding of All Demons and Discarnates, 80.19 the Death Entity, Hell and Death, and the Accuser of the Brethren Opposing the Light within Each Heart and Working against the Children of the Light

Beloved mighty Presence of God within us, I call for the full power of beloved mighty Astrea. Lock your cosmic circle and sword of blue flame around the cause and core of all opposition to the victory of light within each heart. Blaze forth thy mighty cosmic circle and sword of blue flame! Mighty Astrea, mighty Astrea, mighty Astrea, we invoke thy light. Blaze forth the light of God that never fails!

Blaze forth the light of the Manchild in the purple fiery -35-

heart of Saint Germain within our hearts! Blaze the fullgathered momentum of the violet flame!

I demand the binding of all anger directed against the light of the Woman and her seed. I demand the binding of all anger of the Watchers and the godless creation. I demand the binding of all condemnation of the Son of God, all rebellion against the Son of God, and all hatred of the Son of God.

Lord God Almighty, enter this temple of light, enter into the secret chamber of our hearts. We call thee forth now in the name of the Ruby Ray. Bind on earth and in heaven the demons of darkness and despair, demons of anger, and all subterfuge against the children of the Lord Jesus Christ and Saint Germain.

I call for the binding of all demons and discarnates, all astral hordes within this nation who would work against the light of the Universal Church, against the light of the Blessed Virgin.

Lord God Almighty, Alpha and Omega, send forth thy sons of light, legions of angels. I demand a rolling back now, rolling back now, rolling back now of every form of tormenting and possessing demon causing illness of the mind or body. I call forth the light of God that never fails for the binding of the death entity!

I call forth the light of the Great Central Sun by the authority of the Lord Jesus Christ, beloved Lord Maitreya, beloved Gautama Buddha, beloved Sanat Kumara. Bind now the energies of Hell and Death! Bind them within this forcefield!

Bind all that is projected against the activity of the Great White Brotherhood! Bind that force and forcefield moving against the United States of America and every flaming heart of freedom throughout this earth! Blaze the light through! Bind now that force! Bind the force pitted against the children of light! Bind the anger of the Accuser of the Brethren! Bind the discord! Bind all that would prevent these souls of light from the quickening and the establishment of the God flame within their hearts.

In the name of the Father, the Mother, the Son, and the Holy Spirit, we decree. Los Angeles, California, 9-12-79

O Jesus, Prepare Our Souls 80.22 for Communion with Thee

In the name of Lord Jesus, we come together now to partake of the sacred ritual of imbibing the Body and the Blood, not only his Matter body but his Spirit body. May the light of Alpha and Omega enter each one in proportion to his faith and to his inner knowing of the science of being that decrees that the chela shall become the fullness of his Guru.

By thy love, O Jesus, we do know that in this very hour thou art prepared for the meeting of our soul upon the cross of life. Now prepare our souls that we might be ready, LORD, and not be found wanting. Not by might nor by power, but by thy Spirit and by thy grace, O God, see that we not be found wanting.

And so it is by thy Body and thy Blood we are transformed. We are one. We are invincible, God-victorious, and we will behold and see the salvation of our God this day. Amen. Camelot, California, 4-8-79

For Love from the Heart of Mighty Victory to 80.24 Expand within Our Hearts for the Healing of the Nations with the Mighty Spirit of the God of Freedom

O light of love from the heart of mighty Victory, expand within our hearts, expand within our hearts! Expand, O mighty Victory, thy love ray now within our hearts! Intensify thy call to lightbearers throughout earth. Let the call of the manifest Spirit of Freedom go forth. Beloved Saint Germain, send forth thy call. Let it be the love call and the homing.

O mighty light, O souls of light, friends of freedom, in Victory's name, come forth by love, by love for the tender sheep and not for political pride or ambition, by love for the cause of the Great White Brotherhood. By love for the cause let us invoke Victory, and not by the desire to rise before other men or to be thought wise. By the love of the heart of mighty Victory that invokes the great God flame, let us pursue, O souls of freedom, the victory of light in the earth this day.

Blaze forth thy light, O living Word! Bolts of blue lightning into South America, into Europe, into every nation upon earth, into the executive, legislative, and judicial branches of our federal and state governments, into the cause and core of all subterfuge and deception, all that would deprive the children of the light of the victory of freedom.

Blaze forth, O mighty God flame! Blaze forth, O Sanat Kumara! Send forth thy light! Send forth thy light! Release thy infinite manifestation. Mighty Cyclopea and Great Silent Watchers, come forth! Penetrate now, beloved mighty Surya and Cuzco.

Mighty beings of the elements, we call for the mighty rescue mission of the great teams of conquerors to the children of earth. We call for the encirclement of this nation and every lightbearer upon earth with rings upon rings of legions of light of the mighty Elohim, the archangels and the chohans of the rays, and the hosts of mighty Victory. Come forth this day in the name of beloved Mother Mary. Come forth this day, O living Word.

Beloved Lord Sanat Kumara, thou who dwellest in our heart, beloved Gautama Buddha, beloved Lord Maitreya, beloved Jesus Christ, beloved twin flames of the two witnesses, beloved sacred hearts of the saints, East and West, let the Ruby Ray flow. Blaze forth the Body and Blood of Christ into the earth this day for the healing of the nations. Let the leaves of the Tree of Life of every devotee this day be for the healing of the economy, the healing of energy, the healing of the flow of light from heart to heart, person to person, nation to nation.

Bind now all hatred and manipulation! Bind now all manipulation of the economy, of oil, of light, of love, of the very Godhead himself in the earth! Lord God Almighty, send thy servant-sons, the ascended masters and the unascended beings of light. Blaze forth thy light, O Sanat Kumara! Save the earth this day!

Mighty healing masters, O mighty healing masters, come forth, Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood. O mighty flame of the cosmic Emerald Cross, come forth! Seal now this forcefield! Seal the hearts of devotees the world around with a healing light of the Holy Spirit, with the mighty Spirit of the God of Freedom to the earth! Seal the hearts of the faithful!

O God, come now to the waters, come now to the waters, come to the waters of the mind. Heal the waters of the subconscious mind of the planetary body! Heal those waters!

Mighty Elohim, encircle the substance of the moon and all starry bodies. Encircle the planetary bodies and stars, O hosts of light. Encircle all substance that would pervert the great light of Helios and Vesta and the Great Divine Director. Blaze forth the light of God-power, God-determination, God-direction, divine direction! Bind the force of condemnation, criticism, and death! Bind the force of human judgment! Bind the force of the Accuser of the Brethren! Bind the force of the false gurus! Bind the force of the false gurus in Church and State! Burn right through! Burn right through! Burn right through! Bind the sympathizers of the Luciferians and the Satanists. Burn right through by the power of the Ruby Ray! Burn right through! and strip them now of the influence of the substance misqualified of the moon. Burn right through that lunar energy with the power of the Ruby Ray! Burn right through! Burn right through! Burn right through! and strip it from America, strip it from the sangha, strip it from the Gurus and the chelas.

Burn right through! and let the false teachers be exposed. Burn right through! let the Watchers be exposed, Church and State. Blaze forth, O mighty archangels! Blaze forth! Blaze forth! Blaze forth, O mighty archangels!

In the name of the Father, the Son, and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, in the name of Alpha and Omega, in the name Jesus Christ, Amen. Camelot, California, 7-18-79

81.00 For the Light of the Father

In the name of the beloved mighty victorious Presence of God, I AM in me, in every soul of light upon the planetary body, I invoke the light of the Father in the Great Divine Director, in beloved Sanat Kumara, in the light of Gautama Buddha, beloved Lord Maitreya, and beloved Lord Jesus.

I call forth the light of the Father from out the mighty I AM Presence of every devotee of the light. I demand the action of the Father principle from the heart of beloved Saint Germain within this nation, within this government and economy, within every hearth and home, within every man and Manchild, within every soul of light.

Blaze forth the light of the Law and the Lawgiver! Blaze forth the light of the Law and the Lawgiver! Blaze forth the light of the Law and the Lawgiver! Blaze forth the light of the Father! I call for the full power of the Great Divine Director and beloved Lord Maitreya for the intensification of the initiations of the Father within us. Blaze forth the light of the Father and consume all that is anti-Father!

We demand the binding of the Antichrist. We demand the binding of the seed of Lucifer, the Watchers, and the godless creation. We call for the legions of the great teams of conquerors from out the very heart of the Father.

We call for the light of Alpha, beloved Great Divine Director, and Saint Germain. Blaze forth the great light of the Father! Blaze forth the great light of the Father principle and the legions of the Father!

Bind, then, all condemnation of America, of the Woman and her seed, of the light of the eternal Christ. Bind, then, that condemnation! Bind the condemnation of the great law of the universe and its representation in the ascended masters of the Great White Brotherhood and their teachings.

Blaze forth the light of the Father! Blaze forth the light! and let it consume all that is anti-Light, all that is anti the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother. Blaze forth the light of the Father upon this altar! Let it go forth by the hand of mighty Victory and his legions of light. Blaze forth the light of the Father!

Blaze forth the light of the Ruby Ray of the Father! Blaze forth the light of the Great Blue Causal Body of the Great Divine Director and let it hold the heart of each devotee in that light.

In the name of the Father, the Mother, the Son, the Holy Spirit, the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, the World Mother, elemental life—fire, air, water, and earth!—we pray. And we sing the praise of our Father who art in heaven. Amen.

Camelot, California, 9-9-79

81.01 Archangel Michael for the Defense of the Woman and Her Seed

O light, O true light of the living Word, O Michael, great prince of my people, O archangel, living Word, go forth with thy legions of light. Now come to deliver a mighty people and a mighty nation.

Archangel Michael, in the name of Sanat Kumara, the Ancient of Days, and all of the lineage of the Ruby Ray, worlds without end, in the name of the mighty I AM Presence, I send thee forth for the defense of the Woman and her seed throughout this system of worlds.

Go forth, O mighty archangel and hosts of the LORD! Be the defense of every Keeper of the Flame and lightbearer.

In the name of that light in our hearts, let that fire now burst forth! For we would go with thee in the sacred fire of our Presence, our Word, and our praise. Camelot, California, 9-2-79

81.02

The Will of God for the Reinforcement of God-Identity

O descending light of the will of God, now reinforce Godidentity within these souls. O descending light of the will of God, reinforce the will to be the Great Causal Body of the Great Divine Director. Descending light of the will of the first ray and all of its servants, be with us. Enfire our minds. Renew our hearts.

Legions from out the Great Central Sun, we implore the resolution of human infamy. We implore the dissolution by the sacred fire of all that is anti-Christ upon this planetary body by the action of the Ruby Ray from the heart of Sanat Kumara, Gautama Buddha, Maitreya Buddha, Jesus the Christ, and all of his saints and witnesses. I call forth the light of God that never fails. Saint Germain, hurl! your mighty miracle pouch into the cause and core of every injustice. In the name of beloved Portia and the Lords of Karma, hurl! your miracle pouch. Let the violet flame burst forth! Let it transmute and consume all that is out of alignment with the will of God, worlds without end—in the air, the sea, and the land, in the white-fire core of the atom. Hurl! your miracle pouch. Blaze forth the light, O beloved Saint Germain! Blaze forth the light!

We call thee now. Will of God, reinforce in us this hour the commitment of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and their chelas to the victory of each living soul upon earth. And let it be, O Serapis, the victory of the ascension marked by the cosmic cross of white fire, here and now, that the soul may in love rejoin eternity. Amen.

"The Coming Revolution in Higher Consciousness," Camelot, California, 7-3-79

Surya, Come Forth for the Healing of the Nations 81.03

O mighty light of the Great Central Sun, O white-fire core of being, O blessed Presence of Alpha and Omega, hallowed be thy sacred name, I AM THAT I AM. Come forth, O blessed light of the Lord God Almighty. Elohim, I AM THAT I AM, El Shaddai—come forth! In the name of the living Word, come forth.

Beloved mighty Surya and Cuzco, manifest thy mighty Presence now abundantly throughout the earth, a billion times a billion times, and let thy blessed Presence of the mighty God Star descend for the healing of the nations, for the saving of the people of the earth, and for the binding of the tares among the wheat.

Come forth, Surya. Reinforce love. Reinforce the Ruby Ray. Reinforce the judgment. Reinforce the power of Almighty God to save the earth. Reinforce the wisdom in the minds and hearts of the sons and daughters of God.

Come forth, O mighty Surya. In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, we call. Camelot, California, 7-8-79

82.01 I Salute the Beloved Guru Maitreya

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I salute the beloved Guru Maitreya. O Lord God who art the first and the last, thou Cosmic Christ, restore in us this day the triumph of thy cross.

We call forth thy flame as that fount of wisdom. We call forth the light of wisdom that in deed, in word, in faith and hope and love shall be the light to confound now, in this hour, the Serpent with his subtil lie.

O light of Maitreya, come forth. O beloved Person of God, now give to us, each one, the initiations of our soul that we may pick up every dropped stitch and bring to fulfillment the bridal veil of the Cosmic Virgin.

O Lord Maitreya, we stand and still stand in the name of Jesus Christ and Saint Germain. Now let us raise up God in thy name. Let us speak to thy people. Let us deliver unto them thy Word. Thy Word is Truth.

Beloved Lord Maitreya, let us be then the remnant that is for the redemption of thy people.

O LORD, our LORD, how excellent is thy name in all the earth. In the name of Brahma, Vishnu, Shiva, Amen. Camelot, California, 4-8-79 Our Father who art in heaven, in the name of Jesus Christ we speak thy name, I AM THAT I AM. AUM, Father. Abba, Father.

Now, therefore, O living Sacred Fire, in the name of thy Son Jesus Christ, in the name of the Cosmic Christ whose Presence he has brought to our hearts, in the name of the great quickening fire and the opening of the door to our own Christ Self, we ask this day that the children of God upon earth, that the sons and daughters of God might be drawn into the great congruency of thy Throne.

Let thy Three-in-One, O God, descend now. Let it be for the healing of hearts, the purifying of hearts, the opening of the path of initiation according to thy light.

Our heavenly Father, in his name, in the name of the great Spirit of the Resurrection, in the name of his Mother Mary, in the name of his Father Joseph, we implore intercession upon the earth. We implore the manifestation of the Comforter through mighty Elohim, through the all-seeing eye of God, that the truth of thy salvation might be made known, that the presence of the holy saints within the Holy Church might be seen as the great cloud of witnesses, as the fiery cloud and the fiery pillar.

O God, our Father, thou who dost walk within our midst as the personal Presence of the Comforter unto us, walk in the midst of thy people Israel. Draw them together. Gather them together, O God, for the witness of the age, for thy victorious light.

Set the nations free. Set the people free. Set the captives free, O God. This is our prayer. This is our dynamic decree. This is our desiring to be in the Sacred Heart of Jesus, and in that heart to ask of him whatsoever is the desire of the will of God. Amen.

"The Quest for the Resurrection," Camelot, California, 4-15-79

82.03 For the Second Advent, for Footsteps of the

Mission of Jesus Christ, for Enlightenment, for Thyself

Beloved mighty I AM Presence, beloved Father, our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ, and all of the servant-sons of God who are with you in heaven and in the earth, we come together to meditate upon thy mission and thy hour.

O beloved Jesus, let this be the hour of thy coming fully and bodily into the temple of each one of these thy disciples. Let this be the hour of the Second Advent. Let it be the hour of thy coming in full glory.

Day by day we celebrate the hour of the Advent in all of the hosts of the ascended masters and the angels of light who descend into our midst by the power of the spoken Word and the certain Word of prophecy. For all of this, O God, we are grateful.

We consider this day, with great earnestness, each and every footstep of thy mission. For we know that our mission as we take up the Path of the Ruby Ray and bear the Rose Cross—must be in thy footsteps and that our mission must be in this hour an example to the great multitude who must follow in these initiations. Therefore, beloved Jesus, come unto us. Teach us by thy Holy Spirit.

O entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, I summon thee in the name of the children of the light throughout the earth this day. I summon thee. Enlighten thy children, thy saints, the great multitude with thy living Presence within each heart.

Let us fulfill every requirement of the Law and not be found wanting. Let us bring forth fruits meet for repentance and come then, every one, to alignment with the great light of our Father and of the blessed Son, the blessed Holy Spirit, and the blessed Mother.

O hosts of the LORD, seal these precious hearts in the one

flame of Life, now and forever. And let this body of the LORD in the earth be the living Body of the Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ that we might live to fulfill his mission in the earth.

This is our desire. And we drink of thy cup, beloved Jesus. We drink all of it. We spurn no portion of it. We believe on thee and we expect and we direct the living water of Life as our portion to give to the multitudes. Consecrate, then, those who are among us who will go forth.

Seal them, O LORD! Seal them with thy Holy Spirit! Seal them with that power that thou gavest unto the disciples, the power over all devils! Give them that power of the Holy Ghost to confront those possessing demons that cry out, "LORD, LORD," Give them the power to rebuke them in thy name, O LORD, and to give the true teaching in the very midst of the synagogue of life. Blaze thy light! Blaze thy light! Blaze thy light!

O Holy Spirit, by thy Word, by the Word of every ascended master, cosmic being, angelic presence in our midst, let the fullness of the cup of the mission of Jesus Christ, let it be fulfilled in us each one, day by day, in the days and months to come.

This fulfill, O God. For it is the deepest desiring of our heart to be thyself in the earth—body, soul, and mind—on the cross, in the tomb, in the Resurrection, and in the Ascension in this life. Amen.

Camelot, California, 9-9-79

We Come Together, O God,82.04to Celebrate Thy Word and Thy Name

Beloved mighty I AM Presence, O light of God that never fails, we bow before the throne of the Ancient of Days. Lord God Almighty, lo, I AM THAT I AM, enter now this heart and the heart of every child of God upon earth. Let the sacred fire breath fan the Threefold Flame of Life. Let it increase selfawareness in thy will, thy wisdom, and thy love.

We gather together under the aegis of the Lords of Karma sent by Alpha and Omega. Goddess* of Liberty, we would seize the torch that is passed to us by the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood.

Light of God that never fails, we summon the flame of Liberty, Threefold Flame of Life upon this altar. O hosts of the LORD, mighty Elohim, hear our call. We summon light from far-off worlds. We summon the light of the fiery core of Helios and Vesta. Hold now the balance in the four quadrants of Matter for life evolving on this planetary home.

Light of Helios and Vesta, light of the Great Central Sun Magnet, hold now the balance by the Threefold Flame of Shamballa, of Gautama, of Lord Maitreya, Lord Jesus, Sanat Kumara. O Threefold Flame of the living saints and the witnesses, O mighty Threefold Flame of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the great multitude of the children of the Most High God, I bow before the Trinity of Life and before the Mother flame.

We come together, O God, to celebrate thy Word and thy name. Infuse us with thy light and so dedicate and so consecrate earth and her evolutions to the planetary plan, to the path of the ascension, to the path of initiation and to freedom.

In the name of freedom, in the name of freedom we cry, *Let God be magnified! (4x)

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, Amen.

"The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79

*The term 'God' or 'Goddess' signifies the individual attainment of the God consciousness of a particular virtue of the Godhead. It is a title conferred upon cosmic beings by the Lord God Almighty and has naught to do with cults of idolatry or gods many. Hear O Israel, the LORD our God is one Lord who manifests himself unto us in his majestic emissaries, the hosts of heaven, and his servant-sons and -daughters. In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, Goddess of Liberty, blaze forth thy flame! Stand now within our midst. O mighty Threefold Flame, O blessed torch of illumination, Lords of Karma, draw nigh as we prepare together, Keepers of the Flame, to hold high the torch of Liberty and to deliberate our assignments. Lords of Karma, be with us, guide us and instruct us, and prepare us for thy dispensations of love.

O mighty love from the heart of Mother Liberty, blaze forth into all life everywhere. Amen. "The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79

Our Salutation to the Lords of Karma 82.06

Beloved Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, in the name of the I AM THAT I AM and the Cosmic Christ, we call to thee and to the beloved Lords of Karma, O beings of great light: beloved Great Divine Director, O beloved Goddess of Liberty, beloved Nada, beloved Cyclopea, thou Elohim of God's all-seeing eye, beloved Pallas Athena, Goddess of Truth, O beloved Kuan Yin, Goddess of Mercy, beloved Portia, Goddess of Justice, we send forth our light, our love, our gratitude.

We have come together to forge such a mighty union based upon the spiral of love that God has placed with us. We have come together to forge a union of light, a nucleus of union for all America, for all of earth that by this cosmic cube, by this pyramid of our life, we might hold the balance.

In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, I call forth the great hearts of the seven cosmic beings, the Lords of Karma. O magnificent hearts of light, we are grateful for thy presence in the universe.

Hear, O universe, I AM grateful for the Lords of Karma! (4x) Almighty God, we bow before thy throne in this very moment and we offer adoration for the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood that has given to us the mighty swaddling garment of light whereby we fear not, whereby we live, and move, and have our being in the light of God consciousness.

Lo, we come to do thy will, O God. And we live in thy love, and we bask in the golden light of wisdom from thy Son Sanat Kumara, Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, and the Lord Jesus Christ who is our Saviour.

In the name of all who are with us as the great company of lightbearers, so great a cloud of witnesses, in gratitude for the angelic hosts and elemental life, we sing the mighty keynote of our Lord and Saviour,* and we invoke the Cosmic Christs for the deliverance of earth and her evolutions.

In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, we sing praises unto our LORD, I AM THAT I AM.

"The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79 "Joy to the World"

82.07 For the Holy Ghost and the Mantle of the Ascended Lady Master Kristine

Lord God Almighty, in the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Universal Mother, I call to beloved Lanello, I call to beloved Ascended Lady Master Kristine,* your legions of light. Lo, we are come on this day of Pentecost to receive the descending light of the Holy Ghost, that light which is the result of your soul's fusion with the I AM THAT I AM.

^{*}Florence Jeannette Miller, beloved chela of El Morya and the messengers, member of the Board of Directors of Church Universal and Triumphant and dear co-worker and friend, fulfilled at inner levels the initiation of the ascension on September 20, 1979. She was given the title Lady Kristine by Saint Germain on July 5, 1970. And so it is the name by which we invoke her continuing presence with us in the communion of the saints of the Church Universal and Triumphant of our LORD.

Out of this fusion, then, O light of the Holy Ghost, descend now into this temple. For this is the law and this is the fulfillment of the law. Therefore, violet-flame angels, prepare us, transmute the cause and core of all that is less than that light.

Let each one who now raises up his heart as a chalice to receive it know that portion of that mantle that he is able to bear, to hold, to fulfill, and to use—even if it is but a swatch of that garment, a little square, so it is a sacred relic to us, beloved Kristine. Let each one have that precious point of light and, by the single offering, by that piece of that garment, so multiply until the whole garment may be known, each in his own path and spiral.

So we commit ourselves to the fulfillment of your work as you commit yourself to the fulfillment of ours. In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, Amen.

I claim the mantle, I claim the mantle, I claim the mantle of the Ascended Lady Master Kristine! (3x)

In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, Amen.

The ritual of claiming the mantle of an ascended master is something that you can do any time in any space. When you sit down to read a *Pearl of Wisdom* or a book, you make your attunement with that ascended master, you visualize the ascended master's Electronic Presence coming over you. You call:

In the name of the Christ, in the name of my mighty I AM Presence, I call for the Electronic Presence of the Great Divine Director to come upon me now, and I claim his mantle in God's name. "The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79

82.09 For the Violet Flame of Freedom upon Earth

Lord God Almighty, in the name of thy beloved I AM Presence within me and thy beloved Christ Self within all children of thy heart, I call to your heavenly hosts in the service of the Ancient of Days:

O beloved Omri-Tas, O beloved Gautama Buddha, beloved Saint Germain and Portia, Archangel Zadkiel and Holy Amethyst, Arcturus and Victoria, Kuan Yin, and the Great Divine Director, mighty Victory and your legions of light, we open our hearts. Let the floodgates of heaven open. In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, we invoke the full-gathered momentum of the mantle of all beings of the violet planet, 144,000 priests of the sacred fire, all evolutions of light. Let the rolling momentum of the violet flame from your great universal hearts of light now flood into our worlds by this mighty figure-eight principle of Life.

Let the etheric forcefield of the far-off worlds now become congruent with our own mighty I AM Presence. And let the flow of that light through our Christ Self be the clearing of the way, the opening of the way to the violet flame of freedom upon earth such as the world has not known. And let this spiral of violet flame which we invoke from our altar of invocation be the beginning of the upward momentum, the upward swing and the ring of the violet flame of freedom throughout the earth! Let the Liberty Bell ring! Let the bells of freedom ring! Let this mighty spiral of the violet flame invoked from the heart of Elohim, archangels, and Lords of the rays be the reversing of the tide and the instantaneous transmutation of mankind's misqualified energies manifesting as the karma of the Dark Cycle and the consuming of personal and planetary momentums of all selfishness and self-love, rebellion against the law of Love, disobedience to the beloved Christ Self, and all chaos and confusion, hate and hate creation, international terror and tyranny, war and the engines of war.

Let it be the acceleration of integration spirals. Let it counteract and transmute, transmute, transmute all spirals of disintegration, disease, decay, and death within the children of the light, the body of God upon earth, and the Community of the Holy Spirit worldwide.

O God, you are so magnificent! (4x) in our beloved Omri-Tas and the evolutions of the violet planet and all who serve the violet flame of freedom worlds without end.

We thank thee in the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother. And we accept it done this hour in full power in answer to our call according to God's holy will. "The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79

For the Mighty Two-edged Sword 82.10 and the Flaming Cherubim

In the name of Almighty God, I summon the mighty twoedged sword. I summon the two-edged sword to cleave asunder the real from the unreal, to keep the way of the Garden of Eden, and to guard the manifestation of the Christ consciousness on earth.

I call for the flaming cherubim who guard the way of Eden, who guard the way of the Tree of Life. I call for the flaming sword of Almighty God within our midst for the sealing of the Community of the Holy Spirit, for the sealing of Church Universal and Triumphant.

In the name of the mighty cherubim, I accept it done this hour in full power.

Elohim. Elohim. Elohim. "The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79

82.12 For Friends of Freedom Ascended and Unascended to Arise and Take Dominion in the Earth in the Name of Liberty

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, in the name of the beloved mighty victorious Presence of God I AM in me, my very own beloved Holy Christ Self, Holy Christ Selves of all mankind, beloved Lanello, the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the World Mother, elemental life—fire, air, water, and earth!

I call forth the light of mighty Victory and your legions of light. I call forth the light of beloved Mother Liberty, the beloved Goddess of Liberty, and the Great Karmic Board. I call to all friends of freedom ascended. I call to all friends of freedom unascended. I call for the mighty flame of God-freedom to raise up noble souls of light, sweethearts of Saint Germain, minutemen and women of Saint Germain. I call to the great hosts of the LORD to summon now the children of the light upon this earth and the sons and daughters of God to seize the torch that is passed.

O God, our God, how excellent is thy name in all the earth! In that name, I AM THAT I AM, we summon life to the victory, life to freedom. O violet-flame angels, come forth! Seven mighty archangels, come forth! All legions of light, come forth to deliver America in this her hour of greatest challenge.

We call for the light of mighty Victory. We call for the sending of legions of light for the liberation of this hemisphere and every nation upon earth. O Lord God Almighty, Saint Germain, deliver a cosmic mandate of freedom unto this earth and accelerate it now by the violet transmuting flame.

Mighty Oromasis and Diana, we summon thee and thy legions of light. Billions of fiery salamanders stand in our midst and consume the cause and core of all anti-freedom upon the planetary body. Let the violet flame, let legions of fiery salamanders and mighty seraphim go forth now for the consuming of all darkness of Death and Hell upon the planetary body in the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother.

In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit and in the name of the Mother, I call forth friends of freedom to arise, arise! and take dominion over the earth and her evolutions! in the name of Liberty. Amen. "The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79

For Proof of the Living Truth 82.13 on Behalf of the Youth of America and the World

O mighty light of God that never fails, Lord God Almighty, send forth thy light. I invoke the cosmic cross of white fire. I invoke the cross of the Ruby Ray and the Emerald Ray.

Sanat Kumara, blaze forth thy light! Beloved Lord Gautama Buddha, beloved Lord Maitreya, beloved Lord Jesus Christ, now manifest thy flame within our hearts.

Living light of eternal truth, I invoke the real proof of the living Word on behalf of the youth of America and the world. Pallas Athena, come forth. Let the light of truth illumine a world. Beloved Raphael and beloved Mother Mary, let thy healing truth consume error and every manifestation of the seed of the wicked.

Light of truth, O crystal fire mist, Ruby Ray and the terrible crystal of the Ancient of Days, intensify thy light and thy purging of all erroneous doctrine and dogma in the hearts, minds, and souls of thy children.

Goddess of Liberty and Lords of Karma, come forth. Beloved Cyclopea and Virginia, Great Silent Watchers, and beloved Hilarion, send thy angels to recite thy mantra unto the people: *And ye shall know the truth and the truth shall make you free! (9x)

Goddess of Liberty and Lords of Karma, come forth. In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, Amen.

82.15 Expand God Consciousness within These Hearts

With all lowliness and meekness, with long-suffering, forbearing one another in love;

Endeavouring to keep the unity of the Spirit in the bond of peace.

There is one body, and one Spirit, even as ye are called in one hope of your calling;

One Lord, one faith, one baptism, One God and Father of all, who is above all, and through all, and in you all.

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I invoke the light of God who is in us all. Expand thy light, intensify thy Threefold Flame! O Lord God Almighty, expand God consciousness within these hearts. This is my prayer of love.

Light of love, intensify in the heart chakra. Ruby Ray, spiral within that heart chakra now. By the authority of the Word of the seven chohans, by the Ascended Master Hilarion, let the ray of truth intensify love within these hearts.

Beloved mighty Astrea, lock your cosmic circle and sword of blue flame in, through, and around the hearts and heart chakras of the children of the light! *Cut them loose and set them free! (3x) from all hate and hate creation, all hardness of heart imposed upon them by the seed of the wicked, all records of death and dying, all fear, anxiety, nervous tension, and malaise.

Beloved Saint Germain, blaze! blaze! blaze! the action of your Purple Fiery Heart in, through, and around the blessed hearts of Keepers of the Flame. Lord Jesus Christ, seal them in the Ruby Ray of your Sacred Heart. Consume all selfishness and self-love, lust, sensuality, and the pleasure cult—the Antichrist, pretender to the throne of grace and all opposition to the Path of the Ruby Ray.

Let the beloved Christ Self of every lightbearer on earth come forth now and take dominion in the hearts of thy people!

Lead Our Souls Captive unto the Living Word 82.16

But unto every one of us is given grace according to the measure of the gift of Christ.

Wherefore he saith, When he ascended up on high, he led captivity captive, and gave gifts unto men.

Lord Jesus Christ and all whom you have initiated in the path of Sonship, stand with us now. Beloved Christ Self, thou Mediator of heaven and earth, come take us by the hand. Lead the captivity of our souls captive unto thy living Word, unto thy living Spirit.

By the authority of the sacred name I AM THAT I AM, let this soul within this temple rise up and be a part of thy everlasting life, O Lord God Almighty! We beseech thee, in the name of Jesus Christ. We invoke thy law of forgiveness for each transgression of thy immutable law of Love.

Purge our souls, our chakras, and our four lower bodies by thy sacred fire, by thy all-consuming violet flame, by thy love, O God—of all misqualified energy that has ever separated us from thy loving Presence and from each member of thy body on earth.

Let the words of my mouth, and the meditation of my heart, be acceptable in thy sight, O LORD, my strength, and my redeemer.

O LORD, let all of our members, all of our consciousness,

all of our thoughts and feelings become captive to the supreme mighty I AM Presence that I AM. Lo, I AM THAT I AM! (4x)

82.18 For the Perfecting of Saints, for the Ministry of the Sixth Ray, for the Enlightenment of the Body of Christ

And he gave some, apostles; and some, prophets; and some, evangelists; and some, pastors and teachers; For the perfecting of the saints, for the work of the ministry, for the edifying of the body of Christ:

Ascended Master Hilarion,* all saints of the Church, the ten thousand times ten thousand, and all who are before the throne of the Ancient of Days, let thy light of the Holy Spirit descend for the perfecting of these saints, for the work of the ministry of the sixth ray whereby we might serve to set all life free, and for the enlightenment of these members of the body of Christ.

Let the spirit of Antichrist abroad in the land in Church and State be bound by the hosts of the LORD! (3x)

Let the spirit of Antichrist which has invaded the hearts, minds, and souls of thy children be bound by the hosts of the LORD! (3x)

Let all devils opposing the Word and Work of the Son of God through his fellowservants in heaven and on earth be bound by the Lord Jesus Christ, Mother Mary, and Saint Germain, by Lord Maitreya, Lord Gautama, and Lord Sanat Kumara.

O God, hear our call: Bind now the liar and the lie, the seed of the Wicked One, and their false hierarchy and false doctrine which deny the incarnate Word and the Person of the Christ in every son and daughter of God and in every child who has

^{*}Saint Hilarion was the final incarnation of the apostle Paul. He is the chohan of the fifth ray of healing, science, and truth.

claimed his joint-heirship with Christ of his everlasting kingdom by the Threefold Flame of Life burning on the altar of each heart.

Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, in thy blessed name descend. Descend for the Work of the flame of Victory, for thy living Word. Increase and intensify in these hearts this perfection, this Word and Work, this edification, this exhortation, this comfort.

We accept it done this hour in full power till we all come in the unity of the faith and of the knowledge of the Son of God unto a perfect man, unto the measure of the stature of the fullness of Christ.

So let that measure and that portion in us now as the spark of Life, the Threefold Flame, be intensified, be exalted, be raised up, be praised, be hallowed, be known as the Real Self of each one, even the hidden man of the heart!

Angelic hosts of light, release now into these sacred hearts that intense white fire of God's all-consuming love, consuming all unlike itself.

O Holy Spirit, Bind the Carnal Mind! 82.20 Bind the Force of Antichrist! Bind the Dweller-on-the-Threshold!

O Holy Spirit, be the Spirit of the mind of each child of the light that that mind might be in us which was also in Christ Jesus. O Holy Spirit, enter the minds of God's people. Bind the carnal mind! Bind the force of Antichrist, the dweller-onthe-threshold of consciousness within the mental body! Bind that force! Bind that force!

Light explode! Light implode within the mental bodies of the servants of God! Let them be purged now of all impurity. Bind then all toxins in the four planes of Matter, all pollutants, all viruses, all substance chemically contrived to stop the flow of the mind of God within their temples.

I call for the purging of their minds of all bombardment, subliminally and otherwise, of elements of the death culture. Blaze forth the light! *Bind and purge (3x) sacred fire of the Holy Ghost. Bind all demons engaged in the subliminal manipulation of the mind of each child of the light through the mass media.

I call for the clearing of these minds of all psychic and psychotronic forces, of all psychopolitics, psychomanipulation of this people of God and this people of America and the world.

I demand the full power of Almighty God descend for the purging of the crown chakra, the third eye, and the very apparatus within these physical temples whereby the currents of the mind of God are transferred unto the very soul and the chakras of the four lower bodies. O living Presence of Almighty God, heal the minds of the people of this nation that they might rise up and take dominion by the very light force that is within them.

O living Word, hear our cry. This people is gone out of the way. They know not the way of the Word or the mind of Christ or the mind of God. And they are seized by demons of insanity and folly and all manner of fantasy. *Blaze the light through! (3x) Let them be quickened and bind those foul spirits of rebellion against the Son of God and the light of freedom.

O mighty Cosmic Christ, Lord Jesus, Christ Self of each one, enter and take dominion within the temples of the people of America and the world. Let them see and know what is real! what is truth! what is freedom! what is love!

O Holy Spirit, We Welcome Thy Purging Light 82.21

O Holy Spirit, we grieve not your coming. We welcome thy purging light, thy sacred fire, thy fiery trial. We are ready to release all that is unclean, all that must be cast out for the coming of the LORD. We fear not, we grieve not, we lament not. We understand the full meaning of the coming of the Holy Ghost within our soul and temple and heart and we say, O Holy Spirit, by the Ruby Ray, infill and infire me, enlighten and enfold me, comfort and remold me after the image and likeness of God, after the similitude of thy Son Jesus Christ.

Blue lightning from the mind of God! (3x)

The light of God never fails! The light of God never fails! The light of God never fails! and the beloved mighty I AM Presence is that light. (3x)

For the Acceleration of the Light of Love 82.22

O beloved Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, I look to thee for the acceleration of the light of love within this conference. Beloved Goddess of Liberty, I look to thee for the raising up of the members of this body of God that we might light a torch that cannot be extinguished—the inextinguishable Light of God unto the nations.

O LORD, show unto these souls what is necessary for the Path of the Ruby Ray. Reveal the cross. Reveal the ecstasy of the cross and the fulfillment of every jot and tittle of the way. Tear from the eyes this blindness and this seeking to have the world of men and the world of God. Tear from the eyes the selfimposed blindness that will not see when it withholds from God the full measure and the full cup of life.

Let each one then who invokes the crystal cup also come to God with the cup of sorrows transmuted into joy. Cup for a cup, measure for a measure, let us give unto him then what we expect to receive from him.

Tear from these eyes all spiritual blindness. Tear from them every self-deception. O living Word of God, remove from them the blindness that prevents the entering in to the bridal chamber for the true initiations of the Path of the Ruby Ray.

Souls of God, I bid you, love in obedience by illumination the Word of the Ancient of Days and run to fulfill it that ye might receive the bridal veil and know him as thy true Spouse in Love.

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, we are one.

"The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-5-79

82.23 For the Light of the Goddess of Liberty, the Flame of Life and the Flame of Freedom upon the Altar of America

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I invoke the light of the Goddess of Liberty. Blaze forth upon this altar! Blaze forth upon the altar of our hearts! Beloved Saint Germain, God of Freedom to the Earth, let light blaze forth.

We call to the Keeper of the Flame, the Maha Chohan, to keep the Flame of Life in the hearts of the children of God everywhere and upon the altar of America. Keep the flame of freedom burning upon the altar of America and every nation upon earth.

Light of God that never fails, send forth thy light, send forth thy seven archangels, send forth the Elohim, send forth the mighty chohans of the rays. Beloved Great Divine Director, deliver the Word of God in the full power, wisdom, and love of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit this day.

We invoke the Universal Mother. We invoke the Uni-

versal Manchild. O Cosmic Christ, come forth! Raise and accelerate all people of light upon this planetary body on every continent. Let the light increase within their hearts. Intensify now and throw off all opposition to thy victory flame. In the name of Jesus Christ, the Lord and Saviour, in the name of the Ancient of Days, Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, and the hierarchy of the Ruby Ray, we come together this day to seize the torch that is passed. O angels of living fire, buoy us up now in thy mighty strength and vision of the new age. Give us thy strength and courage, O God, to seize the torch of Liberty and to run with it!—a torch that is wisdom, a torch that is love, a torch that is honor to the will of God.

In the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, I invoke all elemental life. I summon the hierarchies of the four elements. I call to Oromasis and Diana, Aries and Thor, Neptune and Luara, Virgo and Pelleur. Blaze forth thy light! Stand upon this altar of being for the defense of life in the new age and the right of every soul to live life, the abundant life, in this age.

I call for the judgment of the hand of abortion and the abortionist. And in God's holy name, I say: They shall not pass! They shall not pass! They shall not pass! They shall not pass! They shall not hurt nor destroy one of these little ones whom the LORD has sent into embodiment for the deliverance of America and this age! They shall not hurt nor destroy in all my holy mountain: for the earth shall be full of the knowledge of the LORD—embodied in these little ones—as the waters cover the sea!

I call forth the judgment of the murder and the murderers of Almighty God in the womb of life and in the womb of every expectant mother in America and the world. Let those who take the sword to kill the holy innocents receive the judgment of Almighty God and his Son Jesus Christ this day and every day until the massacre of the incoming souls of light is stopped! stopped! by the direct intercession of the hand of the LORD through his servant-sons.

We invoke The Word and the armies of heaven, the saints noble and true to defend the safe passage of every child of God from the octaves of light into physical embodiment on earth!

O God, we call. Hear our call and answer according to thy will. Amen.

"The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-6-79

82.27 Offering Our Attainment for the Balance of World Freedom and World Peace

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother:

Beloved Saint Germain, beloved Gautama Buddha, beloved Lords of Karma, we call for dispensations of light. O mighty light, descend now for the resolution of this crisis of this century and the ages. Encircle by thy power and thy light all nuclear weapons, warheads, missiles of every form and kind and manifestation, all destructive intent.

We call for the binding of the individuals who have the intent of war. We demand their judgment and we call for the enlightenment of the sons and daughters of God to take dominion in this earth.

Victory's legions, we send thee in the name of the Word. Sanat Kumara, go forth and solve this problem of nuclear arms buildup this day, this night. Let it be turned around. We invoke the mighty flame of peace from the heart of the Prince of Peace to consume the cause and core of war on this planet. We invoke the mighty sword of peace and legions of angels of peace into the astral hordes of war.

O God Almighty, we give our all and our energy and our

light and love for the resolution of nuclear war upon this planet and all misuses of nuclear energy in nuclear power plants. Let them all be encircled and let all danger to the people now be transmuted by thy light and by the intelligent, God-determined action of sons and daughters of God here and abroad.

O God, we lay ourselves upon thy altar. Let this self be the sacrificial offering for all humanity. Let the self that I AM, let the Causal Body that I AM, let the light that I AM be the gift to hold the balance. So every saint who would make that offer does make it in his heart as we stand together offering all of our attainment of the ages for the holding of the balance of world freedom and world peace.

In the name of the Goddess of Liberty, Amen. "The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-6-79

All-Seeing Eye of God, Reveal Truth to the American People

82.29

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I call to the heart of beloved Cyclopea and the Great Silent Watchers and the Cosmic Christs. I call for legions of light. I call for the penetration of the emerald ray. I call for the penetration of the earth body. Clear the way, O mighty seraphim. Clear the way for the raising up of the friends of freedom and the children of the light. *Cut them free (3x) right now today.

O mighty light ray, O All-Seeing Eye of God, reveal truth to the people of America, Russia, China, Africa, South America, Europe. Reveal by the power of the All-Seeing Eye of God the mighty light of truth, the mighty light of the Word, the mighty light of the I AM Presence.

Light of God that never fails, All-Seeing Eye, send legions of the emerald ray. Expose the truth, expose the lie this day. Let truth manifest in the Senate, in the House, and in the office of the president of the United States. Let truth be made manifest, let it be made known. Let it come through the media. We call it forth, O living Word. Let it be done in thy name.

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, we decree.

"The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-6-79

82.33 For Showers of Blessings upon the Spirit of Youth

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I call forth showers of blessings upon the spirit of youth, these children and these hearts gathered together for the victory of the Community of the Holy Spirit.

I call for the multiplication of this love offering in the hearts of the givers and the receivers that all might multiply and expand the great God consciousness of Sanat Kumara and his emissaries in our midst.

We thank thee, O God. We thank thee, O children of the light. We thank thee, Keepers of the Flame and all students of the ascended masters.

In the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, we rejoice, we rejoice, we rejoice! In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, Amen. "The Torch Is Passed!" Camelot, California, 10-7-79

82.36 O Holy Spirit, Breathe the Breath of Life into These Souls

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I call forth the light, the illumination, the mighty wisdom flame from the heart of the Goddess of Liberty.

O mighty Goddess of Liberty, stand forth now. I call for the great light of thy wisdom to be upon each brow. I call for the divine plan from the heart of the Great Divine Director to seal and enfold, to infill each soul of light.

I call for the mighty blue sphere of the Great Divine Director and the mighty sphere of each one's own mighty I AM Presence. I call to each one's Christ Self. Let that mighty blue flame of the will of God for each of these precious lifestreams descend now into the heart, into the mind and soul for implementation swiftly according to the goal.

O blessed Goddess of Liberty, illumine this divine plan. Let the World Teachers teach each blessed heart who desires to be the LORD's instrument.

Blessed Nada, let thy love flame now infuse the will and the wisdom with the Life and the sacred breath of the Manchild. O Manchild, be born in each heart. O Holy Spirit, breathe the breath of Life into these souls. Let them be reborn and rekindled by thy Spirit.

Let thy mighty love ray, O Nada, fulfill the balance of the Trinity and clear the way now for the fulfillment in practical, illumined, loving, obedient action on the part of these souls of light.

In the name of Saint Germain and Jesus Christ, in the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, Amen.

"Keep the Free Nations Free!" Camelot, California, 10-10-79

For Balance by the Threefold Flame 82.38

In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, I invoke the Threefold Flame. I invoke the light of Shamballa. I invoke the Threefold Flame burning on the hearts of ascended masters and cosmic beings everywhere. I invoke the Threefold Flame of the Goddess of Liberty. Let thy light, let thy life, let thy love intensify!

I call for the expansion of the Flame within the hearts of

the devotees. Elohim from the Great Central Sun, Elohim, come forth! Hold the balance of the flow of the law of the energy of eternal life in the earth. Mighty Elohim, hold the balance of the figure eight. Mighty Elohim, hold the balance of the Buddha and the Mother, of time and space.

I call for the holding of the balance of the earth—fire, air, water, and earth. I call for the holding of the balance of the heaven—fire, air, water, and earth. I call for the light of the Ruby Ray, the emerald ray, and the terrible crystal. I call forth that light. I call for the mighty action of the sacred fire.

O mighty action of the sacred fire, flame of the Ruby Ray from the heart of Sanat Kumara, the seven holy Kumaras, beloved Lady Master Venus, beloved mighty Victory, beloved mighty Victory, beloved mighty Victory, I call forth thy light! I call forth thy light! I call forth the light of Gautama Buddha, beloved Lord Maitreya, beloved Lord Jesus Christ, beloved Lord Saint Germain. I call for the sealing of these hearts. I call for the alignment of their four lower bodies. I call for the attunement of their souls as instruments of the Holy Ghost.

O Holy Ghost, come forth! O beloved Maha Chohan, come forth! O Holy Ghost, come forth! Now infire these souls. Infill their temples with thy love, thy wisdom, and thy power. I call forth thy threefold light.

O Son who is become one with the Father within us, release now the action of the Holy Spirit. Let that Holy Spirit begin gently, as the violet transmuting flame, as the baptism of the sacred fire, let it begin to consume the cause and core of all that is anti the Holy Spirit within these temples, within the Spirit and the Matter temples of heaven and earth.

Blaze forth the light of God that never fails! (4x)

I call for the intensity of the love ray. I call for the light of the Goddess of Liberty, of beloved Chamuel and Charity. Let light blaze forth from the altar of our hearts! Let it hold the balance!

Let it be the mighty scales of Libra balanced by our Godmastery of heart and mind. Let it be for the full power of the hierarchy of the Holy Ghost! Let it be the initiation of the hierarchy of Libra! Let us hold the balance now for the mighty wind of the Holy Ghost, for the penetration of the minds of our people with the power of the mind of God, the wisdom of the mind of God, and the love of the mind of God.

I call for the light of the Holy Spirit as the sacred fire breath to fan now the Threefold Flame upon the altar of these hearts. Fan the Threefold Flame! Let it expand by the breath of the Holy Spirit, by the sacred fire breath.

Let the flame, the Threefold Flame of Life, expand! Let Life expand! Let Life expand as freedom! Let Life expand on the foundation of the law! Let Life expand as wisdom, illumination, education, and the caring of the hearts of these little ones.

I call unto the World Teachers in the name of the Lords of Karma and the Goddess of Liberty: Raise up true shepherds of the people. Let them be exalted, as God is the exaltation of the saints. Let the light of Almighty God be exalted within their temples.

In thy name, O God, in the name of the living Word, we pray for the enlightenment of God's people on earth. In the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, in the name of the World Mother, in the name of Alpha and Omega, Helios and Vesta, the Great Central Sun magnet, elemental life—fire, air, water, and earth! in the name of the Father and of the Mother, of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, we accept it done this hour in full power. Amen. "Keep the Free Nations Free!" Camelot, California, 10-13-79

83.00 O Light of Joy from Out the Great Central Sun

O light of joy from out the Great Central Sun, increase and intensify joy within these blessed hearts who serve in love, who live in love, who sacrifice in love, who surrender in love, and who are selfless in love.

O joy of Sanat Kumara, burst now within our hearts. Joy of Sanat Kumara, burst as the sacred fire of eternal life. For when we have joy, O God, we have already entered into the mainstream of thy eternal life.

Legions of joy from out the Great Central Sun, kindle now these flames. Elohim, kindle now these flames burning upon the altar of our hearts. Kindle now the joy of life.

O Light, multiply light. O Joy, multiply joy. Love, multiply love, and prove the Word that I AM. For by that Word is the measure of the Son of God and this is the life everlasting. And this is the living witness of the sons and daughters of God that the Word that is within them doth multiply all substance of Almighty God.

Therefore by thy Word, O God, multiply our joy, multiply our light, multiply our love, multiply our consciousness of the Father, I AM THAT I AM, of the Son, the blessed Flame of Life, of the Holy Ghost, the breath of thy Spirit. Multiply the energy of life pulsing now as Mother flame.

O Word that is within us, multiply the God that I AM, everywhere I AM. Lo, Amen. Camelot, California, 9-2-79

Cosmic Conception of Christhood— 83.04 the Miraculous Revolution

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I send forth Life! I AM the living flame of love! I invoke the love of beloved Alpha and Omega.

O Great Central Sun Magnet, *descend* into my heart! Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, rekindle in all life thy Threefold Flame.

O love that I AM, go forth! I AM THAT I AM.

I AM the sending of Life.

I AM the sending of the white fire of cosmic conception out of the heart of the Cosmic Virgin unto the heart of the Cosmic Manchild.

I send Life! Life begetting Life, *flow* now through the very heart of earth and her evolutions! O mighty stream of cosmic conception of Christhood, fulfill in us the dream of love—the perfect Son now manifest as the blazing reality of every child of thy heart.

O Cosmic Christ, Lord Maitreya, come forth upon this altar and *stand* where I stand as the fulfillment of cosmic purpose!

Beloved Mother Mary, beloved Saint Germain, beloved Lord Jesus Christ—I *command* thy cosmic Threefold Flame to manifest the miraculous revolution of Life begetting Life! As in heaven, so on earth—thy kingdom come, thy will be done, O God!

So we stand in time and space, ready for the cosmic conception of the eternal Christos.

In the name of the Father, and of the Mother, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit, I invoke the cloven tongues of fire from out the heart of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the World Mother: So be *now* in the heart of the earth the fiery point of sacred Life begetting Life and let this revolution begin with the fire that burns in our hearts, rekindling the Life of God unto cosmic purpose! Amen.

83.05 I AM the Keeper of the Flame of Life on Earth!

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I AM Life begetting Life on earth as it is in heaven!

I AM the flow of the living flame of love from the heart of Sanat Kumara! I AM the flow of Life in the sons and daughters of God in the earth!

Lo! I AM Brahma, Vishnu, Shiva.

Lo! I AM the Lord God Almighty.

Lo! I AM the Mother flame in manifestation.

Lo! I AM the cosmic cross of white fire. *Lo*! I AM with the sons and daughters of God upon that cross.

In the name of the Maha Chohan, I AM the Keeper of the Flame of Life in the earth!

In the name of Sanat Kumara, Gautama Buddha, Lord Maitreya, Lord Jesus Christ, Lord Saint Germain, El Morya, beloved Lanello, beloved Mother Mary—I AM invoking the Flame of Life!

Lo! we affirm: I AM a Keeper of the Flame! I AM a Keeper of the Flame! I AM a Keeper of the Flame! Lo! we affirm: I AM a Keeper of the Flame! I AM a Keeper of the Flame! I AM a Keeper of the Flame! I AM a Keeper of the Flame!

And I will keep the Flame of Life unto the victory of the sons and daughters of God!

And I will keep the Flame of Life unto the victory of the sons and daughters of God!

Beloved Helios and Vesta, beloved Alpha and Omega, receive now this manifestation of our vigil. *Let* this flame and

this mighty torch that we bear in the name of the Goddess of Liberty be the Light that swallows up the darkness! Let it be the Life that swallows up Death and Hell and casts them into the lake of fire!

Lo! we stand in the earth to transmit this Flame of Life until Death and Hell are cast into the lake of fire and there is the victory of the Son manifest in the earth!

Lord God Almighty, Increase and Intensify the 83.07 Flame of Life in the Children of Thy Heart!

In the light of the Holy of Holies we invoke, Lord God Almighty, the tender Flame of Life to increase and intensify in the children of thy heart aborning in the womb of mothers in time and space.

I *call* for the flaming sword of Archangel Michael! Pallas Athena, mighty Victory, and mighty Astrea, *seal* those hearts of sacred fire! *Seal* those temples! And *seal* the parents from all interference with the mighty Flame of Life!

Lord God Almighty, we call forth Archangel Uriel and Aurora to intercede on behalf of life this day and to spare the children of the light that they may enter into this mighty manifestation of victory in Armageddon.

O legions of mighty Victory, go forth! *Bind* now the hand of abortion and the abortionist! *Bind* then the fallen ones and *pierce* the veil of their spell cast upon the children of the light! Let that spell and that veil now be broken! Let it be consumed by the mighty action of the sacred fire from the heart of Lord Shiva!

Shiva! come forth in defense of Life. *Shiva!* manifest thy flame. *Shiva!* manifest thy flame.

83.09 "ICH DIEN!" I Live to Serve, I Love to Serve, I Serve to Set Life Free!

By the Lord God Almighty, I send forth this flame unto the hearts of the mighty archangels, their complements, and legions of light!

Beloved Archangel Michael and Faith, beloved Jophiel and Christine, beloved Chamuel and Charity, beloved Gabriel and Hope, beloved Raphael and Mother Mary, beloved Uriel and Aurora, beloved Zadkiel and Holy Amethyst, beloved Uzziel—we *invoke* the light of the angels! We *invoke* the light of the seraphim and cherubim! We enlist the mighty legions of light! and we enlist the light of Keepers of the Flame now to enjoin and be enjoined by the hosts of the LORD this night!

We go forth in Armageddon! We go forth to defend Life and to slay the dragon of the anti-Guru and the beast of the anti-chela!

Let there be the *binding* of those hordes of night this very hour (and through the hours of our sleep) that oppose the manifestation of the Guru Mother and the Guru's Manchild in the Cosmic Christ!

O Universal Mother of Life, Universal Guru of us all, we implore thy Mother flame upon this altar of being. O Divine Manchild, *manifest* thou thyself in us that we might fulfill the glorious figure-eight flow of the Mother and her child, of the Guru and the chela!

Therefore, let all be *bound* that is the anti-Guru and the anti-chela within and without this forcefield! We *demand* it! and we *command* it! in the name of the living Word. We go forth to part the very astral plane itself to *bind* the sinister force—to see to it that Death and Hell are *bound* and cast into the lake of fire!

O Lord of Life, let the armor, the shield, the sword, and the invincible protection of the legions of light go with every Keeper of the Flame as we determine to set Life free twentyfour hours a day!

In the name of the Father, the Mother, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, we *seize* the motto of the Mother of the Flame—*Ich Dien*, I Serve! *Ich Dien*, I Serve!

I live to serve, I love to serve, I serve to set Life free! I live to serve, I love to serve, I serve to set Life free! *Ich Dien*!

To Protect Life Aborning in the Womb 83.12

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I call to beloved Archangel Michael, legions of light, and mighty seraphim. I command Life to protect Life aborning in the womb!

I call for the circle of white fire and the mighty chain of hierarchy to *encircle* now the children of the light preparing to embody! *Encircle* their parents! *Encircle* all those who would harm them!

Let them be filled with light! Let legions of light protect these children! Let there be a turning around of the consciousness of their parents. Let there be an upsurge and a swelling in the hearts of these parents of intense love for their offspring who are children of the light.

I call for the protection of these souls, beloved Archangel Uriel and Aurora. *Blaze* forth the infinite light of God! *Seal* them in Life! *Bind* death and the death consciousness! *Bind* abortion and the abortionist!

In the name of the Father, the Mother, the Son, and the Holy Spirit, we call to beloved Mother Mary. *Sing* now with us and let our song be for the sustainment of Life until birth is fulfilled!

O Maha Chohan and Holy Spirit, entire Spirit of the

Great White Brotherhood, go forth now and protect this Life due to manifest here and now in this decade of the eighties for the victory of earth.

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, Amen.

83.18 Acceleration of Love to Consume the Cause and Core of All Hate and Hate Creation

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I call forth the light of the Ruby Ray! I *call* for the full power of beloved Saint Germain and the Goddess of Liberty, beloved Godfre, beloved Lord Gautama, Lord Maitreya, Sanat Kumara, and Jesus Christ, beloved Cyclopea:

I demand the mighty clearing action of the Rose Cross, the action of the Ruby Ray, the love flame in the hearts of our people. I call for the acceleration of love! Let it consume the cause and core of all hate and hate creation of the Father-Mother God and the Son manifest within us.

I *demand* the binding of all rebellion against Almighty God as the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother! I *demand* the binding of the rebellious seed! I *demand* the binding of the seed of Satan and of the Serpent! I *demand* the action of the increase of the light of God-gratitude!

Consume! consume *now*! all carelessness and insensitivity to Life—Life that beats the hearts of all of God's people.

I demand the binding of all sensuality, misuse of the sacred fire, witchcraft, and black magic—all opposition to the manifestation of the true vision of Life upon earth!

Lord God Almighty, I invoke the action of the mighty cross of sacred fire, the mighty cross of the Ruby Ray! And I invoke legions of the violet flame to transmute the cause and core of all misqualified substance of the light of Taurus, the light of Gautama, Maitreya, Sanat Kumara, and the Buddha in the womb of Cosmos—misusing this action of the sacred fire on the line of Taurus, on the line of Wesak, on the line of the release of the sacred fire of Alpha and Omega for the building of the spiral of Life begetting Life on earth!

We call to the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood. And we call for the violet-flame action on a planetary scale.

[Give violet-flame decrees.]

Violet Flame, Consume Anti-Life Forces! 83.29

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I invoke a mighty action of the violet flame from the Purple Fiery Heart of Saint Germain!

Beloved Saint Germain, establish thou it!

I call for the mighty Purple Fiery Heart to be superimposed now at the forcefield of the heart chakra of each Keeper of the Flame, each soul of light, every son and daughter of God! Intensify the whirling action of the violet flame to consume the cause and core of all anti-Life forces upon this planetary body!

Mighty Elohim Arcturus and Victoria, Zadkiel and Holy Amethyst, beloved Alpha and Omega, *release* from the Great Causal Body of the hierarchies of the seventh ray, the heart of beloved Kuan Yin, and the causal body of these children of the light the full-gathered momentum of the violet flame!

Beloved mighty action of Oromasis and Diana, Aries and Thor, Neptune and Luara, and Virgo and Pelleur—**Bring forth that light of God that never fails!* (3x)

I call for the action of the violet flame throughout all elemental life, throughout all levels of consciousness, throughout all evolutions, through the entire masquerade of the manipulation of life upon earth. I call forth the violet flame out of the seat-of-the-soul chakra of the ascended masters and their chelas. I call now for the clearing of the way of God consciousness in the bringing forth of the enlightened children of the light.

I *demand* action now for the clarification and the dividing of the way of the fallen ones who have sought to manipulate light and life through the control of genes, through the control of population, through abortion, sterilization, genetic engineering! I *demand* that action stopped! And I *demand* the full power of the sacred fire now anchored in the seat of the soul to flow as a mighty river from the causal body of the sons of God!

Let the violet flame descend! Let the mighty action of the flame of freedom counteract and put down the action of tyranny over the life and the spiritual/material evolution of the children of the light upon earth!

I *demand* the full action of Saint Germain and Portia's causal body to counteract all interference with the cycles of the Word, of karma and reincarnation, and the fullness of the dharma of the Buddha!

Lord God Almighty, beloved Gautama Buddha, we invoke thy mighty causal body and Threefold Flame at Shamballa on this the hour and the day of the celebration of thy birth! So let the Word incarnate of Lord Gautama come forth!

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, in the name of Jesus Christ, Amen.

83.39 The Cosmic Flame of Freedom for the Survival of Life upon Earth

In the name of the I AM THAT I AM, I invoke the light of Alpha and Omega. I call forth the light of far-off worlds, white-fire core of the Great Central Sun!

O Great Central Sun Magnet, beloved Helios and Vesta,

beloved mighty Surya and Cuzco, beloved Virgo and Pelleur, Oromasis and Diana, Aries and Thor, Neptune and Luara— I call for the white-fire core of Alpha and Omega in the sun of even pressure in the heart of the earth! I call for the white-fire core of the Mother within each temple of the sons and daughters of God! I call forth the streaming light of Sanat Kumara, beloved Gautama Buddha, beloved Lord Maitreya, Lord Jesus Christ, and Saint Germain. We bow before thy light.

Beloved Lanello, thou Ever-Present Guru, beloved Godfre, thou messenger of light—I invoke the mighty cosmic flame of freedom for and on behalf of the survival of Life upon earth.

I demand that Life be set free! I demand that Life be set free in the name of the Goddess of Liberty. I call forth the intensification of Life. I call for its acceleration within the heart.

Mighty Threefold Flame of Life, accelerate and intensify! Throw off and consume! throw off and consume! throw off and consume! the cause and core of death.

I demand the binding of the anti-Life forces upon this planetary body. In the name of Jesus Christ, let them be bound on earth as in heaven! Let them be bound in the name of the LORD, the Ancient of Days, Sanat Kumara. Let them be *bound*! Let Death and Hell be *bound* and cast into the lake of fire!

Bind the hordes of Death and Hell! *Bind* the hordes of the astral plane! *Bind* the hordes opposing elemental life, the angelic hosts, and the children of the light upon earth!

I demand the clearing of the way by the mighty Elohim for salvation unto the children of the light. I demand the clearing of the way for our youth, the little children, and the holy innocents. I *demand* a mighty action of the Great Teams of Conquerors.

*Clear the way for the children of the light! (3x)

Beloved Mother Mary, enlist the light of the Mother flame

in devotees of ascended masters and cosmic beings who come from far-off worlds. I demand the clearing of the way for the hierarchies of the Pleiades to descend into this planetary body! Legions of the Christmas angels, legions of the Christ Mass and the Lord Christ, come forth for the defense of Life and its birth in the cradle of the heart!

O light of God that never fails! *Light come forth! (3x) Light come forth and burn and blaze upon this altar of my heart.

*Light come forth! (3x) Light come forth in the name of mighty Cosmos' secret rays. Light come forth! Light come forth! Light come forth! Illumine, consume, burn, and blaze!

I call forth the light of God that never fails! Light, increase in every cell! Throw off death, the death consciousness. Consume to the cause and core every form of cancer manifest in the four planes of Matter. *Burn* right through and reverse this death spiral upon humanity! *Burn* right through, O Holy Spirit! *Burn* right through, Lord Shiva! *Brahma, Vishnu, Shiva! (3x)

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, I invoke the intense white light of the Mother. O ascension fire, burn, accelerate, rise, and pulsate within this temple and every temple of the children of the light. For by the very presence of the ascension, the path of the ascension, the Guru-chela relationship in the earth, so is Life defended, so is the presence of ultimate Life and Love's victory within our hearts our statement against the death forces upon this planet.

In the name of Almighty God, in the name of Almighty God, in the name of Almighty God, let them be overturned this hour! Let them be overturned by Life itself whose flame we adore and espouse!

In the name of the Father, the Mother, the Son, and the Holy Spirit, in the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the World Mother, Amen.

To Venus for Enlightenment to Change 83.50 the World from Death to Life

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I call directly to the heart of Beloved Sanat Kumara, Lady Master Venus, beloved Mighty Victory and legions of Light, brothers and sisters of our love star, Venus.

We call to you now for the cosmic Christ—Lord Jesus Christ, Maitreya, Gautama Buddha, Sanat Kumara—*descend* now into our hearts through our own Christ Self! Give us enlightenment, strength, comfort, and the means to change this world from death unto Life by the mandate of the LORD unto Moses, that we choose Life and not death.

Therefore, Almighty God, deliver to us the enlightenment, the illumination, the fire of the heart's love of all of the ascended masters of the Great White Brotherhood.

Now in this hour by the heart of the Mother of the World, by the heart of the Mother Venus, we call for the action of the sacred fire to instruct us, to discipline us, to bring us into alignment with the will of God, that we might transfer to this world the mandate of God's holy will, by freewill choice, according to the path of illumination. Let that path, O God, be illumined before us by the Venusian, Jesus Christ, Kuthumi, Djwal Kul.

We call for all of the ascended masters of the Great White Brotherhood to clear a pathway of golden illumination's flame for all lightbearers of earth to follow their way back to the very heart of God, according to the teachings of the Ruby-Ray masters, the healing masters, the Sponsors of Youth, and our dearly beloved Mother Mary.

In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, we call.

[song 551 "Venus, Our Lady of Love"]

84.20 Mighty Cherubim, Guard Now the Way of the Tree of Life

By the invincible light of the Ancient of Days, I stand forth in the congregation of the righteous to proclaim the truth of Almighty God and his only begotten Son in Jesus Christ, our Lord and Saviour—and the image of that Christ as the hidden man of the heart within every soul who is born of Elohim.

In the name of the mighty archangels, I call forth the flaming sword of Eden to keep the way of the Tree of Life within us. O mighty cherubim, with that sword, guard now the way of the Tree of Life! Guard the descent of the twelve manner of fruits thereof, as our own cosmic consciousness which does contain—in the beauty of the lilies, in the light of the far-off worlds—the sign of the coming of the Son of God.

Lord Our Righteousness, prove now herewith the presence of our God, Immanuel. Let the mighty torches of Alpha and Omega burn brightly. And let it be for the confounding of the seed of the wicked, every one on earth and beneath the earth.

Therefore, let that which is from above, as it is the mighty light of the Holy of Holies of the sons of God, wrap now each one in the swaddling garment of the Mother flame.

I call to the great victory of the Light. I call to the very heart of the Great Central Sun. Let the Word manifest! O let the Word ripple now across the cosmic spheres and the electronic fire-rings, O God! Let them also descend and seal the Elect One, seal the elect of God who desire and determine to follow that Elect One.

Sanat Kumara, O Ancient of Days, come forth now in the fullness of thy grace. Intensify, O intensify this threefold flame burning within my heart!

O heart of light of the Immortal One, extend that grace! Reignite and rekindle the lost Word and the mighty work of the ages. We rejoice together to see the salvation of our God.

Let the mighty candlesticks who are the guardians of the sacred fire burn brightly in our midst this night for the coming of the sons of God, for the coming of the sword of truth, for the Lords of Karma who appear in our midst.

Mighty Pallas Athena, ignite this revolution in higher consciousness, for we assemble to proclaim the truth of the Everlasting Gospel of the angel of God.

Our Father Enoch, come forth! Ascended master of the seven spheres, Enoch, come forth! Restore now the sons of Seth who pronounce the name I AM THAT I AM. Restore to the Holy of Holies those who fell from grace after the fall of the Watchers and the godless. Let all who lost their first estate by reason of the seed of the wicked now receive the restoration and the resurrection. Let them ascend to thee, O God!

According to thy will, according to thy desiring, O God, hear our call and give answer, for the seed of light, the good wheat of the earth, cry out unto the altar of the Most High God. Hear us, O LORD, and answer as we confirm thy name.

In the name of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, in the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, we proclaim the innocence of the original state of the soul.

By the full power of the Cosmic Virgin, I invoke the restoration of the innocent! Raise them up and clothe them, God, with thy mighty I AM name!

I AM THAT I AM (chant) [song 547 "Arise Shine, For Thy Light Is Come!"] Camelot, California, 7-16-82

84.23 Sealing of Hearts in the Protection of the Great White Brotherhood

In the name of the Light, the one true Light, the Light that is God in all cosmos—in the name I AM THAT I AM of this Light universal and triumphant, I AM the sealing of these hearts in the protection of the Great White Brotherhood.

I AM the sealing in the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit; I AM the sealing, in the name of the Mother, of all hearts who would be one in Christ, who are striving toward the very center of God-free being.

Beloved El Morya, come forth! Reveal thyself as the progenitor of the I AM Race, as the progenitor of our own God consciousness and the offspring of thought and feeling, word and deed, and all that emanates from us. Let our God Selfawareness include the archetype of thy image as true servant of the will of God and, therefore, the example for all servants following in the path of righteousness and truth.

In the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood, Amen.

"Freedom 1982," Camelot, California, 7-18-82

87.04 To the Electronic Presence of Ascended Master Godfre for the Multiplication of Saint Germain's Dispensation by Our Causal Bodies

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I call to the Electronic Presence of the Ascended Master Godfre. Beloved God Obedience, I call for your heart! I call for your flaming goodwill! I call forth the image of the Man and of the Office of the President of the United States of America. I call to you in the person of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit.

I call for your mantle upon each and every devotee, every Keeper of the Flame here, every chela of the will of God, every Keeper of the Flame in every city and nation and state throughout this planetary body. I call you now, beloved Godfre. Draw into this sanctuary these causal bodies of every saint on earth, every member of Church Universal and Triumphant in the inner and the outer sense.

I call for the multiplication of our offering by our united causal bodies, though some of us must be absent physically but present in spirit. I call for the multiplication of Saint Germain's dictation* instantaneously by these spheres of light! I call for the multiplication by the action of the sacred fire from the heart of beloved Omri-Tas! I call for the action of the Purple Fiery Heart of Saint Germain, the heart of Lanello and K-17!

I *demand* the action now of the mighty replica of our Ascended Master Godfre, the Buddhic One, within the heart of these souls, that by God-obedience now we may surrender to the will of God and the mighty dispensation of Alpha and Omega and carry in God-harmony that flame of freedom, that violet-flame dispensation, and also sustain now the binding and the judgment on earth and in heaven of those fallen ones and laggard evolutions who are *bound!* by the power of Alpha and Omega, *bound!* now by our confirmation on earth and in heaven and *sealed* in their own karma, *sealed* in their own willfulness!

Blaze the light through! *Bind* them now! *Seal* them in their own worlds and let God's will be done! Let the violet flame and the white fire propel, accelerate, and exalt this planetary home and all her evolutions!

We *demand* it, we command it, and we call forth that causal body of Godfre! Teach us now how to obey in perfect love,

^{*}On July 1, 1982, Saint Germain delivered a dictation, "Let No Man Take Thy Crown!" in which he announced the release of a "stupendous light of freedom to earth from cosmic sources" and the saturation of the planet with white fire and violet flame to draw the seed of Sanat Kumara into alignment and to bind the fallen ones. "Let there be in this hour the first of a series of separations of the tares and of the wheat. ... Let the fallen ones be sealed and cut off!... And let the lightbearers accelerate."

how to keep our alignment of God-obedience. Therefore, be with us the image of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother flame we are becoming.

In Lanello's name, we sing: [song 522 "Our Gracious Godfre"] In the name of Saint Germain, we say:

America, awake! America, awake!

*In the name of Saint Germain,

America, awake! America, awake! America, awake! (2x) Camelot, California, 7-1-82

87.05 Awake, O World! And Let God Now Reign over This Planet

Beloved Saint Germain, take now your violet flame and your Purple Fiery Heart—multiply the action of our threefold flame. Now transmit that light of Shamballa of the threefold flame of Gautama Buddha in the very hearts of our brothers and sisters, sons and daughters throughout the earth.

Blaze now the fiery flame of illumination! *Blaze* the fiery flame of the five-pointed star! *Awaken* them, O God, to the Buddhic and Christic potential! *Blaze* the light through and awaken them to the exposé of the fallen ones!

Burn through! *Pierce* the veil of maya! *Awake*, O world! and let God now reign over this planet. We decree it in the name of the living Word. Amen. [song 698 "America, Awake! I AM THAT I AM"] Camelot, California, 7-1-82

87.07 To Saint Germain and the Goddess of Liberty— Kindle Now This Flame of Freedom

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I call unto the very heart of the Lord Sanat Kumara, beloved Seven Holy Kumaras, beloved Alpha and Omega, beloved Helios and Vesta, beloved Great Central Sun Magnet. I call for the great Spirit of Selflessness in the heart of the Great Central Sun. I call unto the Cosmic Virgin. I call for the dedication of this altar unto light, liberty, and cosmic justice!

I call for the mighty action of the threefold flame within our hearts to expand and multiply now the threefold flame of Liberty, the mighty causal body of the Cosmic Christs!

Let every candle which we ignite by the power of our own God flame now expand, in the name I AM THAT I AM, the threefold flame of the Sacred Heart of Jesus, the Purple Fiery Heart of Saint Germain, the Diamond Heart of Morya, the Immaculate Heart of Mary, the Magnanimous Heart of Lanello, the mighty flame of Shamballa in all life—the diamond point of Light in every ascended master, cosmic being, mighty archangel, and Elohim of God, worlds without end!

O mighty friends of light, mighty friends of freedom, kindle now this flame of freedom in the name of Saint Germain. Come forth in support now of this Son of Freedom who descends from the heart of God to assist us in this age.

I call for the clearing of the way by the cosmic hosts of the LORD for the coming of Saint Germain into the very heart of America, into the heart of her people, to burn away, by the threefold flame of Liberty and the violet flame, the cause and core of all hate and hate creation!

Blaze the light of the mighty threefold flame! Blaze the light of cosmic justice! Let justice clear the way for freedom.

I demand the action of the sacred fire! Elohim of God, multiply now, and in this hour, the mighty whirling action of mighty Cosmos' secret rays from the heart of Saint Germain to awaken America and the I AM Race and to awaken the earth in the very name of the God of Freedom.

I call to you, beloved Omri-Tas. Expand and expand and expand the full fire of freedom from the heart of the causal body of the Lord of the World! In the name of the Father, the Son, the Holy Spirit, and the Mother, we sing to beloved Mother of Liberty in honor of her presence in the earth, in America, and in every heart.

[songs 725 and 727 to the Goddess of Liberty] Camelot, California, 7-1-82

87.10 All-Seeing Eye of God for the Vision of Our Fiery Destiny

In the name of the light of God that never fails, I call forth the intense action of beloved Elohim Cyclopea. I call forth the great expansion of the God flame.

I call forth the light of ten thousand suns—Elohim of God and Great Silent Watchers holding the immaculate concept with the Cosmic Christ for our lifewave, for our evolution, for the root races of planet Earth, for the I AM Race of Sanat Kumara in whom there dwells the Mighty I AM Presence and threefold flame.

In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Spirit, in the name of the Mother, I invoke the presence here of the Seven Holy Kumaras, mighty Victory and legions of light, beloved Omri-Tas and 144,000 priests of the sacred fire from the very heart of the violet planet. *I call forth the action now! (3x)

Blaze the light of Elohim Cyclopea! *Blaze* the light of the All-Seeing Eye of God for the vision of our fiery destiny! I call forth the vision of our fiery destiny now. I call it forth in the name of the entire Spirit of the Great White Brotherhood and the World Mother.

And let it be done in the name I AM THAT I AM. Amen. [song 357 "Beloved Cyclopea and Virginia"] Camelot, California, 7-2-82 We have come to the day and the hour of the Buddha of the Ruby Ray. Now is the time to bring back those decree sheets so that you may give the ruby-ray calls, even if for but five minutes, ten minutes, beloved, or for two hours a day. Trust us. And understand that it is the action of the ruby ray that will take you to great heights of consciousness and will bring you, beloved, beyond the 51 percent of karma balanced that you must have, and beyond that and beyond and beyond. For we would have you graduate from this planet 100 percent karma free. —THE THREE KINGS, JULY 9, 1998

> The Summit Lighthouse® 63 Summit Way Gardiner, MT 59030-9314 USA Tel: 1-800-245-5445 or 406-848-9500 Fax: 1-800-221-8307 or 406-848-9555 Web site: www.TSL.org E-mail: TSLinfo@TSL.org